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CR19-1352

DA #19-2491 2019-08-06 08:29:49 AM
Jacqueline Bryant

RPD RP19-004180 Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 7412796 : cve

CODE 1800

Christopher J. Hicks
#7747

One South Sierra Street
Reno, NV 89501

(775) 328-3200

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

*x *x %
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
Case No.: CR19-1352
V.
Dept. No.: D15
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant.
/
INFORMATION

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS, District Attorney within and for the
County of Washoe, State of Nevada, in the name and by the authority
of the State of Nevada, informs the above entitled Court that ANTHONY
CLARKE, the defendant above-named, has committed the crime of:

BURGLARY, a wviolation of NRS 205.060, a category B felony,

(50424) in the manner following, to wit:

That the said defendant, ANTHONY CLARKE, on or about March
2, 2019, within the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, did willfully
and unlawfully enter Taste of Chicago, located at 1lst and Lake
Street, Reno, Nevada, with the intent then and there to commit

larceny therein after being convicted of petit larceny on December
JA 001
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28, 2015 out of the Reno Municipal Court and after having been

convicted of petit larceny on October 20, 2015 out of the Reno

Municipal Court.

All of which is contrary to the form of the Statute in such

case made and provided,

State of Nevada.

and against the peace and dignity of the

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington
MARIAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

JA 002
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The following are the names of such witnesses as are known

to me at the time of the filing of the within Information:

CHRIS CAPRIOLI, RENO POLICE DEPARTMENT,
CHRISTOPHER A. GOOD, RENO POLICE DEPARTMENT,
KATHERINE MARIE TYRRELL,

DANIEL NICOLINI, RENO POLICE DEPARTMENT,
BRIGIT MCGURK, RENO POLICE DEPARTMENT,

STEVE PETO,

SHERI MARTINOVICH,

TASTE OF CHICAGO,

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The party executing this document hereby affirms that this
document submitted for recording does not contain the social security

number of any person or persons pursuant to NRS 239B.030.

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington
MARTAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

PCN: RPD0048360C; RPDO050563C-CLARKE
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CR19-1352

2019-08-21 02:37:31 PM

Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 744265

CODE 1785

Christopher J. Hicks
#7747

P.O. Box 11130

Renc, NV. 88520
{(775)328-3200
Attorney for Plaintiff

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

* ok x

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,
Case No. CR19-1352

V.
Dept. No. 15

ANTHCONY CLARKE,
Defendant.

/

GUILTY PLEA MEMORANDUM

1. I, ANTHONY CLARKE, understand that I am charged with
the offense of: BURGLARY, a violation of NRS 205.060, a category B
felony.

2. I desire to enter a plea of guilty to the offense of
BURGLARY, a violation of NRS 205.060, a category B felony, as more
fully alleged in the charge filed against me.

3. By entering my plea of guilty I know and understand
that I am waiving the following constitutional rights:

A. I waive my privilege against self-incrimination.

17/

/177
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B. I waive my right to trial by jury, at which trial the

State would have to prove my guilt of all elements of the offense
beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. I waive my right to confront my accusers, that is, the

right to confront and cross examine all witnesses who would testify

at trial.

D. I waive my right to subpoena witnesses for trial on my

behalf.

4. I understand the charge against me and that the
elements of the offense which the State would have to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt at trial are that on March 2, 2019, or thereabout,
in the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, I did, willfully and
unlawfully enter Taste of Chicago, located at 1st and Lake Street,
Reno, Nevada, with the intent then and there to commit larceny
therein after being convicted of petit larceny on December 28, 2015
out of the Reno Municipal Court and after having been convicted of
petit larceny on October 20, 2015 out of the Reno Municipal Court.

5. I understand that I admit the facts which support all
the elements of the offense by pleading guilty. I admit that the
State possesses sufficient evidence which would result in my
conviction. I have considered and discussed all possible defenses
and defense strategies with my counsel. I understand that I have the
right to appeal from adverse rulings on pretrial motions only if the
State and the Court consent to my right to appeal in a separate
/17

/17
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written agreement. I understand that any substantive or procedural
pretrial issue(s) which could have been raised at trial are waived by
my plea.

6. I understand that the consequences of my plea of guilty
are that I may be imprisoned for a period of one to ten years in the
Nevada State Department of Corrections and that I am eligible for
probation. I may alsé be fined up tg $10,000. | '

7. In exchange for my plea of guilty, the State, my
counsel and I have agreed to recommend the following: Both parties
stipulate to recommend 12 to 36 months in the Nevada State Department
of Corrections.

8. I understand that, even though the State and I have
reached this plea agreement, the State is reserving the right to
present arguments, facts, and/or witnesses at sentencing in support
of the plea agreement.

9. Where applicable, I additionally understand and agree
that I will be responsible for the repayment of any costs incurred by
the State or County in securing my return to this jurisdiction.

10. I understand that the State, at their discretion, is
entitled to either withdraw from this agreement and proceed with the
prosecution of the original charges or be free to argue for an
appropriate sentence at the time of sentencing if I fail to appear at
any scheduled proceeding in this matter OR if prior to the date of my
sentencing I am arrested in any jurisdiction for a vioclation of law
OR if I have misrepresented my prior criminal history. I understand

and agree that the occurrence of any of these acts constitutes a

JA 006
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material breach of my plea agreement with the State. I further
understand and agree that by the execution of this agreement, I am
waiving any right I may have to remand this matter to Justice Court
should I later withdraw my plea.

11. I understand and agree that pursuant to the terms of
the plea agreement stated herein, any counts which are to be
disﬁissed and any'other cases chérged or uncharéed which are either
to be dismissed or not pursued by the State, may be considered by the
court at the time of my sentencing.

12. I understand that the Court is not bound by the
agreement of the parties and that the matter of sentencing is to be
determined solely by the Court. I have discussed the charge{(s), the
facts and the possible defenses with my attorney. All of the
foregoing rights, waiver of rights, elements, possible penalties, and
consequences, have been carefully explained to me by my attorney. My
attorney has not promised me anything not mentioned in this plea
memorandum, and, in particular, my attorney has not promised that I
will get any specific sentence. I am satisfied with my counsel's
advice and representation leading to this resolution of my case. I
am aware that if I am not satisfied with my counsel I should advise
the Court at this time. I believe that entering my plea is in my
best interest and that going to trial is not in my best interest. My
attorney has advised me that if I wish to appeal, any appeal, if
applicable to my case, must be filed within thirty days of my
sentence and/or judgment.

/77
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13. I understand that this plea and resulting conviction
will likely have adverse effects upon my residency in this country if
I am not a U. S, Citizen. I have discussed the effects my plea will

have upon my residency with my counsel. :

14. I offer my plea freely, voluntarily, knowingly and
with full understanding of all matters set forth in the Information
and.in this Plea Mémorandum. I Have read this élea memorandum'
completely and I understand everything contained within it.

15. My plea of guilty is voluntary and is not the result
of any threats, coercion or promises of leniency.

16. I am signing this Plea Memorandum voluntarily with
advice of counsel, under no duress, coercion, or promises of
leniency.

/17
/17
/17
/77
/17
/17
/17
/1Y
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17. I do hereby swear under penalty of perjury that all of

the assertions in this written plea agreement document are true.

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

document does not contain the 5001al security number of any person.

DATED this 21{2"‘” day of A’L/M S~ , 2017.

Ao~ Clpec_

DEFENDANT

TRANSLATOR/INTERPRETER

—

\ﬁl/\/\
e e

—Kttforney Witnessing Defendant's Signature

WY AN
Prosetjjlng A*Ej#ney

JA 009
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STEPHANIE KOETTING
CCR #207

75 COURT STREET

RENO, NEVADA

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE
THE HONORABLE EGAN WALKER, DISTRICT JUDGE
--000--
STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiffs,
vSs. Case No. CR19-1352
ANTHONY CLARKE, Department 7

Defendant.

—_— — — — — — — — ~— —

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
ARRAIGNMENT
August 21, 2019
9:00 a.m.
Reno, Nevada

Reported by: STEPHANIE KOETTING, CCR #207,
Computer-Aided Transcription
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APPEARANCES:

For the State:

For the Defendant:

OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY
By: AMANDA SAGE, ESQ.

P.O. Box 30083

Reno, Nevada

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER
By: LORENA VALENCIA, ESQ.
350 S. Center

Reno, Nevada
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RENO, NEVADA, August 21, 2019, 9:00 a.m.

--000--

THE CLERK: Case number CR19-1352, State versus
Anthony Clarke. Matter set for arraignment. Counsel and the
Division, please state your appearance.

MS. SAGE: Amanda Sage for the State.

MS. LOPEZ: Jenny Lopez for the Division.

MS. VALENCIA: Good morning, your Honor. Lorena
Valencia for Mr. Clarke, who is present.

THE COURT: Good morning, Ms. Valencia. Good
morning, again, Mr. Clarke. This is the time and date set
for continued arraignment. Ms. Valencia, what is your
client's intention?

MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, my client is intending
to plead guilty. However, if I may have the Court's
indulgence, he had a couple of questions?

THE COURT: Take a moment.

MS. VALENCIA: Okay. Thank you, your Honor.
Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Can you confirm if you're in receipt
of the information, I think we did it last time, and that his
name is correctly spelled and whether or not he'll waive a

formal reading?

JAO12
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MS. VALENCIA: Yes, your Honor. We are in receipt
of the information. His name is spelled correctly on line 12
and he understands the contents and waives a formal reading.
I do have a copy of the guilty plea memorandum.

THE COURT: If you could briefly summarize the
negotiations, please?

MS. VALENCIA: Yes, your Honor. Mr. Clarke will
plead guilty to the sole count of burglary. He understands
that it is a minimum and maximum of one to ten years in the
Nevada State Department of Corrections, he's eligible for
probation, and he may be fined up to $10,000.

In exchange for his plea, both parties will
stipulate to recommend 12 to 36 months in the Nevada State
Department of Corrections. Your Honor, Court's indulgence?
I apologize. There was some writing on the front, we would
like it to be clear.

THE COURT: No problem. Things are going fine.
Don't worry about it. Ms. Sage, did that correctly state the
negotiations?

MS. SAGE: It did, your Honor.

THE COURT: Sir, would you please raise your right
hand and take the oath of a witness?

(Mr. Clarke sworn at this time.)

THE COURT: Sir, 1is your true and correct name

JAO13
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Anthony Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Clarke, I have in front of me the
information you heard Ms. Valencia and I just discuss. It
accuses you of the crime of burglary. How do you wish to
plead to that allegation?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Before I can accept your plea of
guilty, let's talk about the constitutional rights you waive,
that is, you give up when you plead guilty. Please
understand that you have the right to have this allegation
proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the State at a speedy and
public jury trial right here in this room where 12 jurors
have to unanimously agree that you are in fact guilty. When
you plead guilty, no trial is going to happen. Do you
understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Ms. Valencia is with you this morning.
She or someone from her office would be with you if you
wanted to go to trial, even if you can't afford an attorney.
Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: If you wanted to go to trial, Ms.

Valencia could help you confront witnesses and evidence

JAO14
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against you. All that means is you could look people in the
eye during direct and cross examination, ask questions
through her and examine items of evidence. You could even
make people come to court and bring evidence with them, even
if they don't want to come, through a court order called a
subpoena. Again, when you plead guilty, no trial is going to
happen and so none of that confrontation will occur. Do you
understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You have the right to remain silent
this morning and throughout trial. You can literally say
nothing. ©No one can comment on your silence or use it
against you in any way. You can even go to trial and testify
on your own behalf if you want. When you plead guilty this
morning, however, you tell me from your own lips, judge, I
did exactly what they say I did, and you give up the right to
remain silent. Is that what you want to do?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Has anybody promised you anything or
threatened you in any way to force you to enter a plea of
guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Tell me what you did to commit this

offense.

JAO15
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MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, he would like me to
speak on his behalf, but he did commit the underlying
elements.

THE COURT: The elements are on or about
March 2nd, 2019, he did willfully and unlawfully enter Taste
of Chicago located at First and Lake with the intent then and
there to commit larceny therein after being convicted of
petty larceny on December 28th, 2015, out of Reno Muni Court,
and after having been convicted of petty larceny on October
20, out of Reno Muni Court.

So are you prepared to state as an officer of the
court there is proof that you're aware of adequate to prove
those elements beyond a reasonable doubt?

MS. VALENCIA: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: I will accept that representation.

Mr. Clarke, what's your understanding of the penalty I can
impose in this case?

THE DEFENDANT: 1 to 10 or 12 to 36 months.

THE COURT: It is between 1 and 10 years. The
maximum sentence, if you will, is 40 to 120 months that I can
give. It's actually a little more than 40. It can be a
range. But you're hoping for the sentence you gave me, I
understand. I just want you to know that nobody can promise

that to you. The attorneys have made an agreement, it's a

JAO16
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contract about what they're going to represent to me, but up
to the maximum, I can give you any penalty. Do you
understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: 1It's a fine up the $10,000 I think you
mentioned as well. I have in front of me a different
document. I saw you sign it. 1It's the guilty plea
memorandum. Were you able to read this document before you
signed it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Was your attorney able to answer any
questions you had about this document?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with her services?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Is it still your desire to enter a
plea of guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: There's a factual basis for your plea,
it's freely, knowingly and intelligently entered, and I'll
accept your plea of guilty. We'll set a date and time for
sentencing.

THE CLERK: Yes, your Honor. Sentencing scheduled

for October 7th at 9:00 a.m. in Department 15.

JAO17
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MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, Mr. Clarke was
wondering if he could waive his PSI and go forward sooner.

THE COURT: Unfortunately, Mr. Clarke, no. As to
sooner, you can raise that issue with Judge Hardy if you
want. But this is a serious offense, particularly for the
judge making a decision. What I mean by that is this is a
petty larceny, it's a multiple petty larceny that became a
burglary because of the priors.

But Judge Hardy needs the best information before
he decides whether to give you a prison sentence, and if so,
how long, or to make a probation decision. So I would not
allow that to occur. We'll set a sentencing date. The door
is always open for you to seek a more expeditious sentencing
with Judge Hardy if he disagrees with me about the waiver of
the PSI. I invite you to raise that issue with him.

MS. VALENCIA: Thank you, your Honor.

--000—-
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STATE OF NEVADA )
) ss.
County of Washoe )

I, STEPHANIE KOETTING, a Certified Court Reporter of the
Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and
for the County of Washoe, do hereby certify;

That I was present in Department No. 7 of the
above-entitled Court on August 21, 2019, at the hour of 9:00
a.m., and took verbatim stenotype notes of the proceedings
had upon the arraignment in the matter of THE STATE OF
NEVADA, Plaintiff, wvs. ANTHONY CLARKE, Defendant, Case
No. CR19-1352, and thereafter, by means of computer-aided
transcription, transcribed them into typewriting as herein
appears;

That the foregoing transcript, consisting of pages 1
through 10, both inclusive, contains a full, true and
complete transcript of my said stenotype notes, and is a

full, true and correct record of the proceedings had at said

time and place.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 26th day of September 2019.

S/s Stephanie Koetting
STEPHANIE KOETTING, CCR #207

10
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CR19-1352
2019-10—1:|L.01:§3:57tl
J in ryan
CODE 2490 Callgﬁlggf tf?e C)(/)urt
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER Transaction # 7533951 : y

LORENA VALENCIA, BAR NO. 14292
350 S. CENTER ST., 5TH FLOOR
RENO, NV 89501

(775)337-4800

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
vs. Case No. CR19-1352
ANTHONY CLARKE, Dept. No. 15
Defendant.

/

MOTION FOR SELF-REPRESENTATION AND AFFIDAVIT

COMES NOW, ANTHONY CLARKE, at present by and through counsel,
JOHN L. ARRASCADA, Washoe County Public Defender, and LORENA
VALENCIA Deputy Public Defender, and hereby moves this Court for an Order
permitting Mr. Clarke to represent himself. This Motion is made and based upon
the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article 1, Section 8 of
the Nevada Constitution, as interpreted in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95
S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); and Harris v. State, 113 Nev. 799, 942 P.2d 151
(1997) and Hooks v. State, 124 Nev. 48,176 P.3d 1081 (2008).

I
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Statement of the Case

Mr. Clarke has been accused of Burglary, a felony. Mr. Clarke waived his
preliminary hearing on August 1, 2019. Mr. Clarke entered his plea of guilty on
August 21, 2019, and sentencing was scheduled for October 7, 2019. At the
sentencing hearing, Mr. Clarke informed the Court and counsel that he wanted to
represent himself. Mr. Clarke’s sentencing hearing was moved to October 14,
2019. Mr. Clarke, through counsel is also filing a Motion for a Young Hearing as
well as this Motion for Self-Representation.

II. Statement of Facts

On October 10, 2019, Mr. Clarke confirmed with the undersigned during an
I-Web visit that he wants to move forward and represent himself. He believes
there is a conflict of interest between himself and the Public Defender’s office,
alleging that he was misled by counsel causing him to waive his preliminary
hearing.

III. Argument

The accused in a criminal case has the right to represent himself, if he

chooses to do so knowingly. Faretta v. California, supra. Mr. Clarke need not

show that he has the skill and expertise of an attorney, but must make his choice
knowingly and voluntarily, aware of the dangers of self-representation. Denial of
the right of self-representation for a defendant who makes a timely, unequivocal

request is reversible error. McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79

L.Ed.2d 122 (1984).

JA 04
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Mr. Clarke is making his request before being sentenced in this case. His
request is timely because it has been made before sentencing and is not being
made to obtain an improper delay.

Mr. Clarke has previously represented himself in California in 1990, and
was approved to represent himself by Department 3 of the Second Judicial District
Court in CR17-1138 in 2017. Furthermore, Mr. Clark has displayed the ability to
read, write, and understand the English language. Mr. Clarke has been present
and engaged in every stage of his Court proceedings.

IV.Conclusion

At the request of the Defendant, it is respectfully requested this Court
conduct a canvass of the Defendant to determine if he unequivocally, voluntarily,
and intelligently waives his right to the assistance of counsel.

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the following document does not

contain the social security number of any person.

Dated this 11th day of October, 2019.

JOHN L. ARRASCADA
Washoe County Public Defender

By: <)VZ&QM/VK/‘

LORENA VALENCIA
Deputy Public Defender

JA 02

2




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

STATE OF NEVADA )
COUNTY OF WASHOE )

I, LORENA VALENCIA, having been duly sworn hereby depose and state
the following to be true under penalty of perjury, except as to those matters stated

upon information and belief. As to those matters, I believe them to be true:

1.

i

i

i

"

I

AFFIDAVIT OF COUNSEL

)ss.

Your Affiant is a licensed Nevada attorney, in good standing, and
presently counsel of record for Mr. Clarke in CR19-1352;

Your Affiant was told by Mr. Clarke over an I-Web visit that he
wished to represent himself at which time the foregoing Motion was
filed;

Your Affiant has been informed and believes that Mr. Clarke
represented himself in CR17-1138.

Your Affiant has been informed and believes that Mr. Clarke
represented himself in 1990 in a California Criminal Case and that

he reads, writes and understands the English language, and has been
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engaged in all prior proceedings in this case and wishes to represent

himself.

Further your affiant sayeth naught.

LORENA VALENCIA

Subscribed and sworn to before me this “fY\ day of October, 2019.

NOTARY PUBLIC

BRIANDA GOMEZ

A Notary Public - State of Nevada

Appolntmant Recorded in Carson City
No: 18-3358-3 - Expires July 16, 2022
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of the WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC
DEFENDER’S OFFICE, and that on the 11th day of October, 2019, I electronically

served, a true copy of the attached document, addressed to:

DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Electronic Service

/s/Brianda Gomez
BRIANDA GOMEZ

JA 025




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

FILED
Electronically

CR19-1352
2019-10-11 01:55:06 PI
CODE 2490 Jacqueline Bryant
t t
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER Transaction # 7533957 - Y

LORENA VALENCIA, BAR NO. 14292
350 S. CENTER ST., 5TH FLOOR
RENO, NV 89501

(775)337-4800

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,
V. CASE NO. CR19-1352
ANTHONY CLARKE, DEPT NO. 15
Defendant.

/

MOTION FOR A YOUNG HEARING

COMES NOW, ANTHONY CLARKE, at present by and through counsel,
JOHN L. ARRASCADA, Washoe County Public Defender, and LORENA
VALENCIA, Deputy Public Defender, and hereby moves this Court for a closed
hearing to determine whether a conflict exists between Mr. Clarke and appointed
counsel. This Motion is made and based upon the Sixth Amendment and
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article 1, Section 8 of
the Nevada Constitution, the attached Points and Authorities, and any oral or

documentary evidence as may be presented at a hearing on this matter.

1
1

1
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Summary of Facts

Mr. Clarke has been accused of Burglary, a felony. Mr. Clarke waived his
Preliminary hearing on August 1, 2019. Mr. Clarke entered his plea of guilty on
August 21, 2019, and sentencing was scheduled for October 7, 2019. His
Sentencing hearing was continued to allow for motions to be filed regarding Mr.
Clarke’s request for a Young Hearing and to represent himself. Mr. Clarke’s
Sentencing hearing was moved to October 14, 2019.

Mr. Clarke alleges insufficient performance by his assigned counsel and
alleges that he was misled by counsel at the Justice Court stage of his proceedings,
which led to him waiving his preliminary hearing. Therefore, Mr. Clarke is filing
this Motion for a Young Hearing along with a Motion for Self-Representation.

II. Statement of Law and Argument

Rather than simply assigning new counsel or transferring the case to
another office upon the mere allegation by a defendant of insufficient performance
by assigned counsel, the trial court has an obligation to hold a hearing on the

record to establish if a true conflict exists. See generally Young v. State, 120 Nev.

963 (2004). At the hearing, the Court must conduct an inquiry into the alleged
conflict, although the attorney-client privilege should not be invaded unless
absolutely necessary. In Young, the Court stated, “ . . . the district court need not
invade the attorney-client privilege unless absolutely necessary; however, the
district court’s respect for the privilege should not prevent it from engaging in a
genuine inquiry into the quality of defense counsel’s representation.” Id., at 971.
Appellate review of a trial court’s decision on the issue contains a three-part
analysis: (1) the extent of the conflict between the defendant and counsel, (2) the
adequacy of the trial court’s inquiry into the defendant’s complaint, and (3) the

timeliness of the motion and the extent of any inconvenience or delay. Id., at 965.
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The burden is on the defendant to show sufficient cause to be entitled to a

substitution of court-appointed counsel at public expense. See Garcia v. State, 121

Nev. 327, 337 (2005)(“[A] defendant in a criminal trial does not have an unlimited
right to the substitution of counsel. Absent a showing of sufficient cause, a
defendant i1s not entitled to the substitution of court-appointed counsel at public
expense.”).

Here, the Defendant has requested the Court remove his present appointed
counsel alleging conflicts of interest. The Defendant does not request that new
counsel be appointed at public expense, but requests leave to represent himself.
The trial court should review his request in light of the above criteria and citations
to law. The case law is clear that a defendant is not entitled to a specific attorney

of his choosing. Young, at 969. Nor can the defendant create a conflict by his own

Intransigence, refusal to communicate or engage in meaningful discussion with
counsel, or otherwise unilaterally bootstrap a change of counsel. Indeed, the
Nevada Supreme Court has stressed that a defendant “may not, as a matter of
law, create a conflict requiring substitution of appointed counsel.” Id., at 971. It
seems clear from this comment that the Supreme Court wanted to discourage
defendants from being able to delay criminal proceedings simply by refusing to
deal with their court-appointed counsel. The Supreme Court has also stated “[a]
defendant cannot base a claim of inadequate representation upon his refusal to
cooperate with appointed counsel. Such a doctrine would lead to absurd results.”

Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 363 (2001)(citing Thomas v. State, 94 Nev. 605, 608

(1978) and Shaw v. United States, 403 F.2d 528, 529 (8th Cir. 1968)).

In order for the trial court to grant a substitution of counsel at tax-payer
expense it must make a finding that “counsel and defendant are so at odds as to
prevent presentation of an adequate defense.” Gallego, at 363 (citing State v.
Stenson, 132 Wash.2d 688, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). The level of acrimony must be

JA 028




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

more than a disagreement over strategy or tactics. In United States v. Moore, 159

F.3d 1154, 1160 (9th Cir. 1998), the Court found that there was a conflict but

described it as “irreconcilable.” In United States v. D’Amore, 56 F.3d 1202, 1206

(9th Cir. 1995), the Court found there was a conflict but stated that the
relationship between counsel and the appellant “showed a complete breakdown of
communications which substantially interfered with the presentation of an
adequate defense.”

Not every disagreement between counsel and a defendant should rise to the

level of a conflict necessitating new counsel. The United States Supreme Court in

Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 103 S.Ct. 1610 (1983), stated that the Sixth

Amendment to the United States Constitution, applicable to the States via the
Fourteenth Amendment, does not guarantee “a right to a meaningful attorney-
client relationship.” Id., at 13. The Court goes on to say “[n]o court could possibly
guarantee that a defendant will develop the kind of rapport with his attorney —
privately retained or provided by the public — that the Court of appeals thought
part of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel.” Id., at 13-14. In Gallego, the

Nevada Supreme Court held that disagreements over trial strategies are not

conflicts of interest necessitating substitution of counsel. Gallego v. State, 117
Nev. at 363. “The mere loss of confidence in . . . appointed counsel does not
establish ‘good cause’. Good cause is not ‘determined solely according to the
subjective standard of what the defendant perceives’.” Gallego, at 363 (citing

Thomas v. State, supra.).

Here, in the event the Defendant seeks appointment of new County
provided counsel upon the ground of a conflict of interest alleged or perceived by
him to exist between himself and appointed counsel, the Court should determine
the question of whether to appoint new counsel in accordance with the guidance

provided in the legal authorities cited herein.
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Other legal citations and points which the Court may wish to consider
include the following:
Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 2.1, entitled “Advisor”, reads:

“In representing a client, a lawyer shall exercise independent
professional judgment and render candid advice. In rendering advice,
a lawyer may refer not only to law but to other considerations such as
moral, economic, social and political factors that may be relevant to
the client's situation.”

Thus, the assigned defense counsel should exercise independent judgment,
not merely act as a conduit for any argument or legal theory which the client
insists on presenting, especially if the argument of legal theory which the client
insists upon is not based in law or fact (see Rule 3.1, below). The defense counsel
should also be candid when rendering advice or assessments to the client, even
where the client disagrees with the candid advice or assessment of the attorney or
even where the client becomes agitated or upset upon hearing the candid advice or
assessment. (That said, note that the defense counsel, under Rule 3.1 may, even
when in disagreement with the position of the client, “so defend the proceeding as
to require that every element of the case be established.”).

Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 3.1, entitled “Meritorious Claims and
Contentions,” reads as follows:

“A lawyer shall not bring or defend a proceeding, or assert or
controvert an issue therein, unless there is a basis in law and
fact for doing so that is not frivolous, which includes a good faith
argument for an extension, modification or reversal of existing
law. A lawyer for the defendant in a criminal proceeding, or the
respondent in a proceeding that could result in incarceration,
may nevertheless so defend the proceeding as to require that
every element of the case be established.”

Thus, under Rule 3.1, the assigned defense counsel may, and should, “so
defend the proceeding as to require that every element of the case be established,”

but should balance that obligation with the prohibition against frivolous assertions
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or arguments for which there is no basis in law or fact. A defense attorney’s
refusal to abide by a client’s insistence on pursuing a defense or legal position
which has no substantial basis in law or fact does not of itself create a conflict of
interest necessitating substitution of counsel.

Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 3.3, entitled “Candor Toward the
Tribunal,” provides that “a lawyer shall not knowingly:

(1) Make a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal or fail to correct
a false statement of material fact or law previously made to the tribunal by the
lawyer;

(2) Fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling
jurisdiction known to the lawyer to be directly adverse to the position of the client
and not disclosed by opposing counsel.”

Thus, under Rule 3.3, the assigned defense counsel must not knowingly
mislead the Court on a legal or factual issue. A defense attorney’s refusal to abide
by a client’s request to knowingly mislead a Court as to a legal or factual issue
does not of itself create a conflict of interest necessitating substitution of counsel.

Due to Mr. Clarke’s allegations of insufficient representation and
allegations of being misled by his appointed counsel, an inherit conflict exists. No
assessment of these allegations has been made, and a hearing on whether one
exists is appropriate in this matter.

II1. Conclusion

At the request of the Defendant, it is respectfully requested this Court set a
I
I
I
1
1
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hearing to determine whether a true conflict exists between appointed counsel and
Mr. Clark.
AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not
contain the social security number of any person.

Respectfully submitted.

Dated this 11th day of October, 2019.

JOHN L. ARRASCADA
Washoe County Public Defender

By: _/s/ Lorena Valencia

LORENA VALENCIA
Deputy Public Defender
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of the WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC
DEFENDER’S OFFICE, and that on the 11th day of October, 2019, I electronically

served, a true copy of the attached document, addressed to:

DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Electronic Service

/s/Brianda Gomez
BRIANDA GOMEZ
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151 Country Estates Circle
Reno, Nevada 89512

THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE
BEFORE THE HONORABLE DAVID N. HARDY, DISTRICT JUDGE

-000-
STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
vs . Case No. CR19-1352
ANTHONY CLARKE, : Dept. No. 15
Defendant. :

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

EVIDENTIARY HEARING RE: YOUNG/SENTENCING

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 23RD, 2019

Reno, Nevada

Reported By: ERIN T. FERRETTO, CCR #2281
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FOR THE PLAINTIFF:

FOR THE DEFENDANT:

THE DEFENDANT:

PAROLE AND PROBATION:

MARIAH NORTHINGTON, ESQ.
Deputy District Attorney
One South Sierra Street

Reno, Nevada

LORENA VALENCIA, ESQ.
Deputy Public Defender
350 S. Center Street
Reno, Nevada

Present

JENNY LOPEZ
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RENO, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 23RD, 2019, 3:30 P.M.

-000-

THE COURT: Just remain seated, please.

Where is our State's attorney?

(Off the record.)

THE COURT: Mr. Clarke, there are two -- we're on
the record in Case No. CR19- 1352.

There are two critical virtues that everyone
should expect of their judges. One is that the judge be
actually impartial and the other that the judge appear to
be impartial. And so when I talked to your attorneys, I
think, Well, I know I'm actually impartial, but I wonder
about what message i1s communicated when you see us just
go 1in and talk, and we did exactly what I said. We
talked a little bit about at least one other lawyer and
then we kind of went into the differences between the
District Attorney's Office and the Public Defender's
Office. We actually talked a little bit about my 1life
and circumstances, and the name Mr. (Clarke never came up
once.

And I promise you I can rule for or against your

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA036
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attorney every day of the week. I might not meet with
counsel again under this circumstance, if I thought about
it, so I hope you'll trust my attempt, Mr. Clarke --

THE DEFENDANT: Of course I do.

THE COURT: -- to appear impartial.

Ms. Northington, welcome. I thank you for coming.

We are here on --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: We are here on Mr. Clarke's request to
represent himself. Mr. Clarke is pre-sentencing, having
entered a plea of guilty, and there are two features of
today's hearing. One is whether Mr. Clarke actually
intends to represent himself with full awareness of its
risks, and the second is whether he is seeking to
substitute counsel, which is a different question.

And the State's attorney should be present for a
Faretta canvass. Faretta is the case name for the
questions I must ask if someone chooses to represent
himself or herself. If this hearing also slips into, I
want a new attorney because my attorney is not being
effective, I'm not communicating with my attorney,
there's a breakdown in our relationship, then the State's
attorney 1is excluded from the hearing.

And let's begin, Mr. Clarke, on the first, whether

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA037
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you wish to represent yourself. I'm just going to ask
you to remain seated for a moment, just don't stand.

I notice in the motion for self-representation
that Mr. Clarke has previously undertaken self-
representation, at least twice that I'm aware of. Is it
your desire to represent yourself, Mr. Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Is it your desire that I replace your
current attorneys with new attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: So you want to represent yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. You are entitled to represent
yourself. It would be err for me to deny self-
representation, but I'm required to determine if your
choice is informed and you get to choose after our
conversation whether it's wise.

I'1l begin by saying just colloquially that I

think it's unwise. As a general rule, we don't pull our

own teeth, we go to the dentist. Most of us don't change

our own oil, we go to the car mechanic. And there 1is

something powerful about legal education and experience.

Counsel, unless you tell me otherwise, I will just

pull up the Faretta script and begin asking questions.
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Okay. Mr. Clarke, please stand, face my clerk,
raise your right hand and be sworn.

(Defendant sworn.)

THE COURT: I'm going to ask you to be seated
again, Mr. Clarke. You may remain seated while you
respond to the court's questions.

Do you intend to represent yourself at sentencing
or do you intend to pursue on your own behalf some
withdrawal of your plea?

THE DEFENDANT: I dintend to withdraw my plea and
go directly to trial.

THE COURT: Ms. -- I'm going to get this wrong
because we don't have great familiarity with each
other -- Ms. Northington --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: -- the plea to which Mr. Clarke pled
guilty -- excuse me -- the crime for which Mr. Clarke
pled guilty is burglary --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Correct.

THE COURT: -- felony charge. Will there be a
different amended information with additional or new
counts should this matter go to trial?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Should the matter to proceed to

trial, your Honor, the only change would be the potential

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA039
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to seek habitual criminal treatment. That decision has
not been definitively made yet, but that's the only
change I could foresee.

THE COURT: Mr. Clarke, can you tell me in your
own words what you believe the State means when she tells
me she might seek habitual criminal designation?

THE DEFENDANT: You're asking me how I perceive

that?

THE COURT: What does that mean to you when --

THE DEFENDANT: It means to me that they're trying
to give me -- habitual criminal means I'm a career

criminal and they will seek more time 1in prison as a
result of my past convictions.

THE COURT: That's right. So the choice to seek
habitual criminal designation belongs to the State, I
don't encourage or discourage. The State will make its
own choice, whatever it is, but it is a request of the
court. It is the court that determines whether somebody
should be sentenced as a habitual criminal. Sometimes I
do; sometimes I don't.

The habitual criminal statute contemplates a much
lengthier time 1in prison. There are different categories
of habituation. Does Mr. Clarke fall within the highest

life imprisonment category?
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MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you know when you would make that
decision?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, it depends on
whether or not the withdrawal of plea actually occurs.

At that point, I'd say within the week of withdrawal of
plea and setting of trial.

THE COURT: Should Mr. Clarke file a motion to
withdraw his plea, will the State be opposing it?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And whenever we saw each other last, I
went into the office and read the statute for withdrawing
of plea. There are certain standards that have to be met
and I would just entertain them as they are presented to
me .

Let me have just a moment here.

Ms. Northington, will you tell me a little bit
more about the factual allegations underlying the
burglary? I just read the Information again, it refers
to Mr. Clarke's entry into a business called Taste of
Chicago but what is the police narrative?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, it's very brief and
quite simple. The defendant was walking by the sidewalk

of the Taste of Chicago pizza restaurant down here 1in
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10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

downtown.

THE COURT: Is this the tips --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes. He saw the tip jar was not
being manned through the window -- it's all on
surveillance -- he hops inside, reaches inside, grabs the
money and takes off.

THE COURT: It was all of 30 or $35, something
like that?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor. I think it was
37.

THE COURT: $37.

Mr. Clarke, the questions I'm going to ask are
required by the Nevada Supreme Court, and I'm just going
to ask them as set forth by the rule. And I do the
Faretta canvass so infrequently that where is it? That's
a question without an answer, counsel. I have a canvass.

Oh, my gosh. Why didn't I grab this before I came
to the bench? It's always right here.

Mr. Clarke, tell me what you understand burglary
to be.

THE DEFENDANT: Burglary, to be an entering a
place with the intent to commit a petty larceny, larceny.

THE COURT: I'm reading from Supreme Court Rule

253 at the moment. Isn't it the intent -- entering a
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building with the intent to commit a felony?

MS. NORDVIG: Or petty larceny.

THE COURT: Or petty larceny.

MS. NORTHINGTON: I think, your Honor, with petty
larceny there has to be two prior convictions of petty
larceny.

THE COURT: And the Information sets forth priors,
I saw that.

Do you know what the possible sentence 1is for
burglary, Mr. Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: Three to 120 months -- 3 or 1 to
10, you know. That's the way I look at it on here but,
your Honor, I have no access to books or court so I'm
kind of --

THE COURT: So you previously signed a Guilty Plea
Memorandum that sets forth the possible penalty, probably
a 1-to-10.

MS. NORTHINGTON: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: 1 to 10 years in the Nevada Department
of Corrections, it is probation eligible, and you could
also be charged a fine not to exceed $10,000.

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. And you understand that the

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA043
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State may request that you be sentenced as a habitual

criminal --
THE DEFENDANT: I do.
THE COURT: -- if you were found guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: And the worst habitual sentence would

be 1ife in prison?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you understand, Mr.

that you have the absolute constitutional right

Clarke,

to be

represented by effective counsel, counsel to effectively

assist you at no expense to you at public expense?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You understand you have that

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

right?

THE COURT: Do you understand that the attorneys

who represent you at the moment are licensed to
law in the state of Nevada, they are skilled --
say this gently -- that there's a high level of
professionalism in the Public Defender's Office
attorneys are skilled both as trial technicians
legal strategists.

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

practice

I want to

and the

and as

11+
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THE COURT: If this matter goes to trial, and I
know I have to review a motion to withdraw and make a
decision on that, but just hypothetically if this case
goes to trial, do you intend to call any witnesses?

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, my witnesses were
available but now they're not because I wasn't advised to
have witnesses present at a mandatory status conference.
So now they're not available so I don't know if I'1l1l have
an opportunity to call witnesses.

THE COURT: Let's say you found a witness and
called a witness, how do you anticipate examining that
witness, what would you do?

THE DEFENDANT: First, I wouldn't lead with my
qguestion. I would ask in their words what happened --
what happened, that type of stuff.

But, again, your Honor, I have no access to books.
I have no access to rules of court or anything. I'm
sitting in the county jail with a Washoe Legal who only
does civil. I have no access to criminal law.

THE COURT: Do you understand, Mr. Clarke, that
the court will not issue subpoenas, act as the
investigator or assist you in preparing your defense in
any way -- do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA045
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THE COURT: Counsel, have any witnesses been
subpoenaed for the defense?

MS. VALENCIA: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Because he's entered a plea of guilty
and we're set for sentencing obviously?

MS. VALENCIA: Correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have -- do you understand that
you have the right to confront by cross-examination the
State's witnesses, should this matter go to trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: How do you intend to do that?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I won't to badger the
witness, first of all. I'll just ask them 1in their own
words what they -- in terms of what they seen and -- in
their own words.

THE COURT: Have you ever examined a witness in
court before?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: When?

THE DEFENDANT: 1990 in LA County, 13 different
officers on the stand. I did the whole trial. Also did
in Polaha's court.

THE COURT: Did that case go the trial?

THE DEFENDANT: No. It was -- the District

134
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Attorney decided not to respond to my writ of habeas
corpus, came down to the county jail and told me if I
plead guilty to the misdemeanor he'd release me, and I
pled guilty to the misdemeanor and he released me.

THE COURT: Why do you want to represent yourself,
Mr. Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: Because I have no representation,
even though I had a warm body next to me. At this point,
there was no investigation done, there was no
investigator sent to the scene because -- and when I
first arrived, I was arrested on this case, they asked me
if I wanted appointment of counsel and I told them no on
this case.

Then when I get arrested on a bench warrant for
not appearing, come to find out the Public Defender's
Office went in and may have negotiated a plea under what
they called a mandatory status conference. And that
right there, I didn't want to have a mandatory status. I
wanted to go directly to preliminary hearing because the
witness was relevant. Now I'm stuck in the position that
I have no access to anything.

And then the other reason I have to represent
myself is because when I first appeared what they call --

what they call in this state the first appearance, the

14+
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State of Nevada was being represented on the other side
of the video screen, I was not being represented by
counsel, so that kind of struck me strange. So when I
get in the letter in the mail, you have a mandatory
status conference coming up, and I get to the window to
the lower court, the justice court, all I get is a piece
of paper saying, "mandatory status conference" and they
came up with this. But the mandatory status conference
memorandum, which is dated 2001, says I should be present
with witnesses, along with my attorney, along with the
District Attorney's Office -- a representative from the
District Attorney's Office and me, but they had that
alone on their own, so I had a problem with that.

Then --

THE COURT: Okay. I just wanted to get a sense.
You're expressing dissatisfaction with your attorney's
performance; is that accurate -- have I heard you
correctly?

THE DEFENDANT: It's really been more than that.

THE COURT: I know. I don't want the details. I
just want to get the sense of why you want to represent
yourself, and you're telling me because you don't believe
your attorneys are doing what they should and you can do

a better job.
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Is that your belief?

THE DEFENDANT: I believe that I can do a better
job based on the fact -- only based on the fact that the
job -- the job that's been done now, it's nothing.

THE COURT: Do you understand that the court will
not provide any special privileges to you or extra or
library privileges to you just because you represent
yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you understand that it is
almost always unwise for an accused to represent himself
or herself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Why do you think that is?

THE DEFENDANT: Because when one represents
himself, he has a client for a fool.

THE COURT: I'm smiling not at you, I'm smiling
because of how historically well grounded that statement
is. It actually first, as I understand it, comes from
President Lincoln. It may even predate him. He who
represents himself has a fool for a client.

I'm a trained lawyer and a judge, and two years
ago I attempted to represent myself in very small thing

and I realized in about ten minutes I should not
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represent myself. I'm not trying to share my personal
life with you, but I deeply believe it's unwise to
self-represent, and I just wanted you to hear me say
that.

THE DEFENDANT: I agree with you, but I have no
other choice because what I believe I have is an
obstruction of justice.

THE COURT: Do you understand the State's attorney
will be experienced, professional, and will provide no
special opportunities for you simply because you
represent yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Her job is to obtain your conviction
if she believes she has evidence and she will attempt do
so with all of her ability, the State's attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that. Also, could I
say one thing?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE DEFENDANT: She also has an obligation to seek
out the truth.

THE COURT: Do you understand that at the
conclusion, if this case goes to trial -- I understand
right now I'm ahead of myself but I'm not going to do two

Faretta canvasses -- do you understand that the lawyers
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work with the court in settling jury instructions -- do
you know what jury instructions are?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand you'll be
responsible for presenting, according to the rules, your
own written jury instructions at the end of trial or be
able to disagree legally with the State's jury
instructions?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you ever prepared jury
instructions?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: In California?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Sorry to ask this, Mr. Clarke, but how
old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm 62.

THE COURT: Sixty-two. How many years of school
have you completed?

THE DEFENDANT: I've never graduated from school.

THE COURT: So you do not have a high school
degree?

THE DEFENDANT: Never graduated from school.

THE COURT: How far did you get in your education?
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THE DEFENDANT: Fifth grade.

THE COURT: Fifth grade?

THE DEFENDANT: (No audible response.)

THE COURT: Where were you -- where were you
raised?

THE DEFENDANT: LA County.

THE COURT: Do you believe that you read and write
with some fluency?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: I should observe that -- I should
comment that I observe you writing as I've asked
questions and that you have a whole series of papers in
front of you. I have no reason to disbelieve that you
can read or write, I'm just required to ask the question.
Okay.

Do you understand that if I allow you to represent
yourself, I may order that your attorneys to stay on the
case as advisory counsel to speak with you privately as
your case progresses?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you want that?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: If you -- I may or may not order

standby counsel. You don't have to use them if you don't
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want, but I want you to understand that is a resource
available to you so that you can consult privately, ask
guestions and receive assistance.

THE DEFENDANT: Can I interject?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE DEFENDANT: If you -- if the court decides to
have a standby counsel, I wouldn't want them from this
office.

THE COURT: You don't get to pick who your
appointed attorney is, that's a separate inquiry.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: We may need to go there if I appointed
standby counsel. At this point, I just want you to
understand I may appoint standby counsel for you.

Do you understand I have a responsibility to
manage the courtroom, to enforce the rules, and to ensure
that there is dignity and order in the proceedings?

Which means that if you're disruptive in any way, if you
act outside of procedures, that I may respond in a way
that you don't 1like, I might do so in the presence of the
jury, and I might even terminate your right of self-
representation if you become disruptive or hostile to the
process.

Do you understand that?

20+
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: If you are represented by counsel and
you are convicted, either through plea or through jury
verdict, you have the right to question your attorney's
performance. I'm not suggesting that you should or
would, but we call that a post-conviction petition in
which you allege you received ineffective assistance of
counsel.

Are you familiar with that concept?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you
represent yourself you cannot complain that you were
ineffective in representing yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You cannot come back to the court and
say, "Judge, it was a really unwise decision, I didn't
know what I was doing, I 1lied to you during the Faretta
canvass, I can barely read and I did not represent myself
well"; do you understand you're waiving that entire
argument?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. For me to order that you
represent yourself, I must be satisfied that you

understand your rights, that you understand your trial
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obligations or obligations pre-sentence, and that your
waiver of counsel is freely and voluntarily made.

Is there anything you want to say that would help
me understand and be persuaded that you understand your
rights, you understand your obligations, and you're
making your own free choice?

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I am making my own
free choice and I do understand. I'm doing it willingly,
not compulsory.

THE COURT: What defense do you anticipate you
will have at trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, since I haven't had an
opportunity to get full discovery, at this point I'm
looking at the procedural flaws right now, but if it --
when I have full discovery I will have a better
understanding of how I'm going to represent the case to
the court.

THE COURT: According to the rule, if I deny the
request for self-representation, I have to make specific
findings. Those findings are that Mr. Clarke lacks the
skills to such a degree that there will be significant
impediment to case processing. Another finding I could
make is that Mr. Clarke has been disruptive in court.

Another finding that I could make is that he lacks

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA055



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

231

essential English language skills and 1is unable to
communicate clearly. Or I could deny the right because
it is untimely and I would postpone proceedings. All of
these rules contemplate self-representation at trial and
we're not there. I have a guilty plea after a canvass
and a signed Guilty Plea Memorandum, but those are the
findings that I would have to make.

All right. Is there anything else you wish to
say, Mr. Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: I'd like to, first of all, thank
you for allowing me to come into your court and I
appreciate you. And you are fair throughout the system.
You are fair and I'm kind of like enjoying your bench.

THE COURT: Stick around long enough. Everybody
seems to have a different opinion if they stick around
long enough.

THE DEFENDANT: Me and Polaha got along pretty
well.

THE COURT: A1l right. To the State's attorney,
is there anything you wish to say?

MS. NORTHINGTON: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Should I grant the request for self-
representation? I still have to pursue some normalcy in

the case, and right now we are past the day set for entry
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of judgment and imposition of sentence. It seems to me I
should reset entry of judgment and imposition of sentence
and then create a deadline for filing anything that would
cause the plea to be vacated.

Do you agree, counsel?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Clerk, please set entry of
judgment and imposition of sentence for 30 days from now.

THE CLERK: Let's do November 25th at 9:00 a.m.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Clarke, I don't -- I find
you to be articulate and intelligent, and you're familiar
with some of what we do. I don't have any negative
feelings about you personally but I do have a negative
feeling about you representing yourself. I just don't
think it's wise. I don't like it. You're ready to be
sentenced on a felony that's traceable to a $35 grab --
grab-and-run, and I don't know what your sentence will
be. The State is probably going to ask for prison. If I
looked --

I don't remember, counsel, do you even remember
what the Division recommended?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, I do not remember
what the Division recommended but I'm pretty sure it was

a joint recommended sentence pursuant to the
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negotiations, if I'm remembering correctly.

THE COURT: I'm looking at the PSI.

MS. VALENCIA: The PSI was different than the
direct recommendation.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, the joint counsel
recommendation was going to be the minimum. I'm not sure
what P & P recommended. I hadn't look at it yet.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Northington, for your
candor. I really appreciate that.

So the recommendation, based upon the lengthy
criminal history, is for 36 to 96, the negotiations are
12 to 36.

Ms. Lopez, you're standing?

MS. LOPEZ: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: I don't ever predict my sentence. I
want to be careful what I say here. I have two competing
concerns. You have something 1like 37 or more criminal
convictions and you've got a $35 grab-and-run, does that
result in a lengthy prison sentence? Maybe not. Maybe.
Maybe not, though. Could it result in a 12-to-307?
Absolutely it could. That's what the attorneys thought
it should be. Could it result in probation? It doesn't
appear that you're susceptible to supervision, so I don't

know.
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I guess that's all I'1l1l say. I don't want you to
represent yourself because you think that I am going to
impose the maximum. I just don't know what your sentence
is going to be, I truly don't. I don't think it's wise,
but I think you passed the standard for self-
representation and I'm compelled to grant your motion
even though I think it's unwise and you shouldn't do it.
But I don't get to be the -- there's a 1limit to my
authority.

But I am going to appoint the Public Defender to
be standby counsel. You don't have to talk to them if
you don't want, but I really have a lot of confidence in
my aggregate experience with the public defenders. I
admire their work, along with the State's attorney. I
just admire what they do day in and day out, and I'm
going to make them available to talk to you along the
way. But you don't have to talk to them if you don't
want to.

THE DEFENDANT: I appreciate you.

THE COURT: So if you want to withdraw your plea,
you're going to file a motion of some type, and that
motion is going to have to be filed no later than next
Friday, which is nine calendar days from today.

And to the State, I'1ll have you file any
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opposition by the following Friday. I know rules
contemplate additional time but we just need to get it
fully briefed so I can make a decision.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Understood.

THE COURT: Are you able to meet that deadline?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Then I'll make a decision about
whether your request to withdraw is denied or granted.
If it's denied, you're coming to me for sentencing on
your own.

And what happens to the negotiation if he
represents himself? I can't imagine that's breached and
would cause the State to argue for a different sentence.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, if the motion to
withdraw plea is denied and we go forward to sentencing,
the State will stand by the negotiations.

THE COURT: So we'll either go to sentencing
without an attorney and you'll represent yourself, or
you'll go to trial representing yourself.

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes, Mr. Clarke.

THE DEFENDANT: Before we close, could I ask the
court a question?

THE COURT: Yes.

274
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THE DEFENDANT: I was actually coerced 1in the
lower court to sign this agreement, and I was
threatened -- I was threatened through e-mail.

THE COURT: Are we getting into some territory
where we should go into a sealed session and exclude the
State?

MS. VALENCIA: I think so, your Honor. And I
believe this would go towards the appointment of standby
counsel, being the Public Defender's Office versus the
Alternate Public Defender's Office.

THE COURT: I think that's fair. I need you to
leave the courtroom, counsel, but don't leave the
rotunda.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Will do.

THE COURT: At this point, Ms. Reporter, the
transcript will be marked as sealed, please.

Ms. Lopez, if you'll step out as well, please.

(Mr. Northington and Mr. Lopez exited courtroom.)

(The hearing continued and is filed separately.

under seal.)
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THE COURT: A1l right. Ms. Northington and
Ms. Lopez have returned. We now mark the transcript as
no longer sealed.

The dates the court previously announced remain
effective. My oral pronouncement regarding self-
representation remains effective and it will be
memorialized in a written order.

My decision regarding standby counsel and Mr.
Clarke's request for the appointment of different standby
counsel will be the subject of an order that I will enter
very soon.

That's it. All right?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Thank you, your Honor. If I may
make one more point?

THE COURT: Yes.

MS. NORTHINGTON: I do want to apologize to
everybody in the room for my tardiness. There's no
excuse. We just had a mis-calendar, so I apologize.

That's all.
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THE COURT: Thank you for saying that. I don't
know you but I presume the best about every attorney
until they prove otherwise. And some attorneys I know to
always be punctual and some are always running a little
late, and so I'll accept that.

I should tell you, Ms. Northington, that I had a
2 o'clock set and I was in my office -- and I pride
myself on my punctuality, it's one of the few things I
can control -- I was in my office just looking at files,
minding my own business, waiting for my next case. And
my administrative assistant knocked on the door today and
said, "It's 2:10, Judge, what are you doing?" I had no
excuse. I just missed it.

MS. NORTHINGTON: You don't know this about me,
but I also pride myself on my punctuality. I played
sports for many years, and if you're not ten minutes
early, you're late. So I do apologize.

THE COURT: When I was 17 I was in basic training.
Staff Sergeant Pond used to scream at us that if you're
early, you're on time; if you're on time, you're late.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yep.

THE COURT: I've never forgotten that.

THE DEFENDANT: Marine?

THE COURT: US Army. I wasn't tough enough to be
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MS. NORTHINGTON: Thank you, your Honor.
MS. VALENCIA: Thank you, your Honor.
THE COURT: A1l right. Good night.
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THE COURT: I now turn to the standards under a
decision that we refer to as Young which establishes the
boundaries for replacing current counsel with new
counsel.

Do you wish to be heard, Mr. Clarke, on who your
standby counsel should be?

THE DEFENDANT: Alternate Public Defender's
Office, I don't know her name, but she represented me
when I was before Polaha; other than that, I don't know
her name.

THE COURT: Well, I don't appoint lawyers by name,
I either appoint the Public Defender or the Alternate
Public Defender, then the conflict group, and then they
have the ability to assign an attorney to the case.

THE DEFENDANT: Could I ask a question?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE DEFENDANT: TI've heard never of -- I've heard
of alternate, but what is a conflict attorney?

THE COURT: It's a group of attorneys who receive
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appointments when a defendant is conflicted -- when
there's a conflict of interest in the Public Defender's
and the Alternate Public Defender's, so it's a third
level of attorneys at public expense.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Before I was represented by
Alternate Public Defender. We had a conflict but the
conflict was resolved between us. At this point, since
my life is on the line, I might go to the conflict
attorneys, your Honor.

THE COURT: Yeah, but you don't get to choose.
This is not a buffet. I have to have a reason to excuse
your current attorneys.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: What's the basis for that?

THE DEFENDANT: That I was coerced into taking the

deal.

THE COURT: How were you coerced?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, first I signed the deal on
August 1st. I didn't get discovery in the case until --

hand-delivered discovery until 10/11/19. I didn't get
the opportunity to review the videotapes and so-called
crime until 10/8/19 so I had no idea what was in the
discovery.

THE COURT: So you entered a plea before you
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reviewed the videotapes?

THE DEFENDANT: That, and the fact that I had no
discovery at all. Two months after I entered the plea I
get the discovery.

THE COURT: You don't strike me as a man who is

easily coerced.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, under the circumstances -- 1
can explain it to you. After -- after -- I stepped into
the courtroom, I asked to have the lineup. I asked not

to be present in the court, because they could identify
me. The attorney who did the notice of waiver to appear
in court on preliminary hearing also said that I had -- 1
was identified in a lineup and the witnesses were present
to testify in the preliminary hearing.

Come to find out, there was no lineup. And she
walks into the room, while I was in Department 4 in the
back, she comes in and she says the witnesses will be
here and you've been identified in a lineup. Okay. So I
signed the plea.

I asked the attorney on the record, who were the
people that will appear, and she said they don't know. I
asked them to do a lineup, and she said there was no
lineup done.

Then when I get into the higher court -- I wasn't
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in front of you, I was in front of another judge -- I
asked the attorney of record to see if I can keep the
negotiation down from a B felony burglary to a C, and the
State attorney sent me this back threatening me -- I took
it as a threat, that if I didn't accept the deal they
would take it to the second degree burglary in an e-mail.
So I signed and I entered a plea on the 21st.

You know, this is -- mind me, I have no books, I
have no way of understanding what's going on with the
statutes. I have no understanding of what's going. Then
I file a writ of habeas corpus, Judge, and it was cleaned
out, sent back by the clerk. They suspended the writ of
habeas corpus, but I had an opportunity to have someone
bring you an ex parte motion. I don't know if you have
it in front of you, but that explains from the beginning
to the end.

And one more note 1is that when I first was
arrested on this case, through Court Services I told them
I don't want to be represented by counsel, but they
appointed counsel anyway. What they ended up doing 1is
coming up with a prison sentence, I'm going to be doing
prison before I had an opportunity to be heard.

So my thing is this. Right from the beginning I

was denied a fair trail. No one ever said anything about
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the $300 in my pocket. They claim -- there is a lot of
stuff going on.

THE COURT: All right.

THE DEFENDANT: There's a lot.

THE COURT: Let me hear from Ms. Valencia. You're
in a difficult situation because you don't want to
disclose privileged information, but I need you to
balance the information before me, if necessary, if
applicable.

MS. VALENCIA: Thank you, your Honor.

Your Honor, due to the allegations made by
Mr. Clarke, I believe that in and of itself is an innate
conflict, but for court -- for the court's understanding,
Mr. Clarke had -- was present at an MSC where we had
representation from our office, talked with him about his
case, go over the negotiations. At that time, we set the
preliminary hearing.

He is correct the attorney who was covering the
preliminary hearing went and visited him at the jail
prior to signing the waiver of the preliminary -- or of
appearance at preliminary hearing.

The day of preliminary hearing there was also an
attorney present from our office who was prepared to go

forward. My understanding was the State had their

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA072



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

witnesses that they needed that day to go forward with
preliminary hearing, negotiations were made, were
presented to Mr. Clarke.

The only information I have about a lineup is that
Mr. Clarke had wanted one, requested one; whereas, our
office informed him that if he's worried about
identification at preliminary hearing, that there's a way
to go forward and that's with the waiver of preliminary
hearing. There was no -- no lineup done by the police
officers. We don't -- I don't know of a time where we
request one be done.

However, he was represented at the preliminary
hearing, it got waived up to District Court. At that
time, it was set for arraignment. I believe another
representation -- another attorney was present from our
office to represent Mr. Clarke, went over the Guilty Plea
Memorandum.

He wanted to know if we could do further
negotiations, so the arraignment got continued. We
reached out to the District Attorney. The District
Attorney informed us that they are not -- they're not
going to budge from their negotiations; that they were
prepared at preliminary hearing to go forward with their

witnesses, and that they could legally have proceeded
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with a habitual or burglary second, they had believed at
that time.

Then we did come to arraignment. I believe it was
held in another department that was covering for this
department that day. I was present. I went over the
Guilty Plea Memorandum. I attempted to answer
Mr. Clarke's questions prior. I had set up an iWeb with
him. He had further questions that morning. I tried to
answer those questions.

When we were before the judge, I confirmed whether
he wanted to go forward or if he wanted to -- or if he
wanted to ask for another continuance to give me time to
answer his questions to satisfaction. He informed me he
wanted to go forward and at that point we went through
with his entry of plea.

THE COURT: Was a video produced after the waiver
and did the video contain any exculpatory value?

MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, I believe that the
video was provided prior to the preliminary hearing. We
did review it in our office. I wasn't the attorney
covering but we have notes of it. Just knowing my office
and the attorneys that covered, I know that -- actually I
can't speak because I wasn't there, however, there are

notes that it's been reviewed. My understanding is that
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those notes would have been presented to Mr. Clarke
before the preliminary hearing.

THE COURT: What is your understanding of what the
video depicts?

MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, I can't necessarily say
that it has exculpatory evidence. It depicts an
individual going in and reaching their hand into a jar
and then leaving.

THE COURT: And how was Mr. Clarke arrested after
the fact?

MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, my understanding is
that a witness had followed him. They got into an
altercation. The witness actually roughed up Mr. Clarke.
And I believe the police officers were on scene after
that -- or at that point.

THE COURT: The allegation of a conflict or
coercion on its own is insufficient. How would you
describe the relationship between you and Mr. Clarke --
the working professional relationship between you and Mr.
Clarke?

MS. VALENCIA: Your Honor, I believe that at times
it can be difficult in terms of communication. I do try
to respond and to communicate with him. I don't -- 1

understand if clients think that we don't respond quick
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enough, that we don't -- sometimes I have to give answers

that they don't 1like to hear, and I -- I don't know, your

Honor, if that's sufficient or if you want more

information.

THE COURT: Are you able to respond in a civil and

professional manner to Mr. Clarke?

MS. VALENCIA: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Have there ever been any events in
which there's been hostility or name calling or --

MS. VALENCIA: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: -- disruptive words?

MS. VALENCIA: No, your Honor. Mr. Clarke has
been -- has never personally attacked me as an
individual. There's been no name calling, no -- nothing
that I would take personally.

When I indicated that I believed the allegations
of coercion are an innate conflict is in the sense that
these are allegations and an issue that I believe should
be assessed; however, for us to represent that matter to
go forward, I believe there's an innate conflict. I
could approach it professionally but --

THE COURT: A conflict isn't created just because
he doesn't like you or want your representation.

MS. VALENCIA: No, your Honor. I guess I'm
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referring to the allegations of coercion by my office and
attorneys in my office. Obviously I'm denying that that
occurred.

THE COURT: Who were the attorneys who represented
him in the Justice Court?

MS. VALENCIA: I believe Ms. Pusich had at the
original MSC and Ms. Bertschy had at the preliminary
waiver.

THE COURT: If I appointed you as a standby
counsel, could you respond professionally and civilly to
Mr. Clarke's questions?

MS. VALENCIA: I could, your Honor. One
concern -- I don't know if this is appropriate to bring
up at this time, please let me know, but is -- as standby
counsel, I'm there to help and communicate as required.
However, even as counsel I've felt treated like a law
clerk or a secretary, not as an attorney, so Mr. Clarke
requesting me to do stuff outside of --

THE COURT: You don't have to do any of that
stuff.

MS. VALENCIA: Correct, your Honor. So as long as
he understands as standby counsel I'm not there to --

THE COURT: You are available to share your

expertise, not to make copies for him.
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MS. VALENCIA: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. I've heard everything I
need to hear. Does anybody else feel I missed something
before I close this session?

MS. VALENCIA: I do not, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Clarke?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I would. I was concerned
about the 13 prior convictions that they allege I have,
and I asked the attorney of record if they can reach out
to LA County because LA County passed a law or the
initiative Proposition 47 which allows individuals who
didn't have a serious or violent felony to have that
felony conviction reduced to a misdemeanor.

THE COURT: I'm familiar with it.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. I fall into that. I don't
have 13 prior convictions.

Secondly, I asked the attorney of record to
contact LA Public Defender's Office to get those records;
she told me that I should do it myself.

THE COURT: What?

THE DEFENDANT: I should do it myself. That's 1in
an e-mail.

Also in an e-mail on 10/13/19 I asked why wasn't I

represented at the first appearance, in the Reno Justice
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Court?

have been there to represent me, but there was no one

there.

me with my PSI. She said she would but I never got help,

so I walked through the PSI interview and I incriminated

myself

would set up an iWeb and we talk about the questions I
had about the PSI, that never happened. So I'm sitting
in front of an interview with probation and parole and
the first question she asked me is about my prior
convictions. And she also said that if I did not

cooperate with her, that she would report me to the

judge.

know which way to turn because I have no way -- I'm doing

my best now with what I have, but as I stand now, I

don't

particular, I've read it and I understand what it says.
It's a mandatory status conference 2001, and it was
issued by the Supreme Court in Nevada. But the Reno
Justice Court, the mandatory status conference, the way

it's written, says I have a right to be sitting down with

14+

And the attorney of record said, someone should

On 9/27/19, I asked the attorney of record to help

On 8/26 she said she had received my kites and she

So I'm sitting -- I'm just -- I'm just -- I don't

- it's like the mandatory status conference in
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my attorney, along with a representative of the District
Attorney, along with discovery and any witnesses
available. Okay. That didn't happen, but I get a letter
in the mail from the counsel obviously saying bring all
your witnesses that you may believe that could help you
in your case, but when you get there, the mandatory
status conference already took place. So I'm really
confused about the procedures and the way they were
applied to me. And then if I had an opportunity to do it
all over again, that wouldn't happen.

THE COURT: I've given you sufficient time, I've
listened carefully, and I will now invite
Ms. Northington, the State's attorney in.

Would you grab her, please?

MS. VALENCIA: Ms. Northington, your Honor?

THE COURT: I'd like Ms. Nordvig to --

MS. VALENCIA: Oh, Ms. Nordvig. Oh, yeah.

THE COURT: I didn't want Deputy Coss to leave the

courtroom.
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STATE OF NEVADA )
) SsS
COUNTY OF WASHOE )

I, ERIN T. FERRETTO, an Official Reporter
of the Second Judicial District Court of the State of
Nevada, in and for the County of Washoe, DO HEREBY
CERTIFY:

That I was present in Department No. 15 of
the above-entitled Court on WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 23RD,
2019, and took verbatim stenotype notes of the
proceedings had upon the matter captioned within, and
thereafter transcribed them into typewriting as herein
appears;

That the foregoing transcript is a full,
true and correct transcription of my stenotype notes of
said proceedings.

That I am not related to or employed by any
parties or attorneys herein, nor financially interested

in the outcome of these proceedings.

DATED: This 2nd day of April, 2020.

/s/ Erin T. Ferretto

ERIN T. FERRETTO, CCR #281

164
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represent himself. Subsequently, Mr. Clarke filed a written motion stating there is a
conflict between himself and the Washoe County Public Defender’s Office and requesting
his defense counsel be released without substitution of new counsel. In addition, during
the October 24, 2019, hearing, Mr. Clarke indicated his intent to seek the withdrawal of his
guilty plea and, if it is granted, proceed to trial.

Mr. Clarke previously represented himself in California in 1990, and was approved
to represent himself by Department 3 of the Second Judicial District Court in case number
CR17-1138 in 2017.

II. Principles of Law and Analysis

A. Self-Representation

A criminal defendant has the right to self-representation under the Sixth
Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution. U.S. Const.
amend. VI; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 818-19 (1975); Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 1.

This right is unqualified, so long as the defendant can satisfy the court that his or her
waiver of the right to counsel is knowing and voluntary. Baker v. State, 97 Nev. 634, 636,
637 P.2d 1217, 1218 (1981); Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835; see also Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330,
337,22 P.3d 1164, 1169-70 (2001). In making this determination, the court may consider

whether the case is so complex that permitting the defendant to represent him or herself

would amount to a denial of a fair trial. Vanisi, 117 Nev. 341, 22 P.3d 1171-72. “In

deciding whether a defendant has knowingly and intelligently decided to represent

quality of his decision.” Id. at 341, 22 P.3d at 1172 (quoting Bribiesca v. Galaza, 215 F.3d
1015, 1020 (9th Cir. 2000)). “In order for a defendant’s waiver of right to counsel to

withstand constitutional scrutiny, the judge need only be convinced that the defendant
made his decision with a clear comprehension of the attendant risks.” Graves v. State, 112

Nev. 118, 124, 912 P.2d 234, 238 (1996) (citing Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835-36). Thus, the record

should establish the accused was “made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-
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representation,” such that he “knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes

open.” Faretta, 422 U S. at 835.

A court may also deny a request for self-representation if the request is untimely,
equivocal, or made solely for purposes of delay. Vanisi, 117 Nev. at 338, 22 P.3d at 1170
(citing Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1001, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997)). In addition, the

court may consider the defendant’s pretrial activity if it indicates he or she will be
disruptive in the courtroom. Tanksley, 113 Nev. at 1001, 946 P.2d at 150.

In the present case, Mr. Clarke is unequivocal is his request to be permitted to
represent himself. This Court has had the opportunity to observe his demeanor during
multiple hearings and concludes he has been prepared, articulate, and respectful, without
any notable disruptions. While Mr. Clarke’s request to represent himself was first made at
what would have been his hearing on the imposition of sentence, this Court does not find
it to be untimely or made for the purpose of delay as it was made in a reasonable time
before trial, if any, and is unlikely to cause a significant change in the timeline of the
proceedings. See Lyons v. State, 106 Nev. 438, 445, 796 P.2d 210, 214 (1990), abrogated on
other grounds by Vanisi, 117 Nev. 341, 22 P.3d at 1172. Thus, this Court’s primary focus is

on whether Mr. Clarke’s waiver of his right to counsel is knowing and voluntary.
On October 24, 2019, this Court conducted a Faretta canvass to apprise Mr. Clarke
“fully of the risks of self-representation and of the nature of the charged crime so that [his]

decision [was] made with a clear comprehension of the attendant risks.” Johnson v. State,

“specific, penetrating, and comprehensive inquiry” to determine whether Mr. Clarke
understood these potential consequences. This Court noted concern regarding

Mr. Clarke’s limited formal education, but also observed him reading, writing, and
communicating clearly during the hearing. In addition, this Court noted Mr. Clarke’s
previous experience with legal proceedings, including representing himself on two prior

occasions.
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Mr. Clarke indicated he had previously discussed the consequences of self-
representation with appointed defense counsel. This Court warned Mr. Clarke it was
unwise to represent himself and listed the dangers and disadvantages associated with this
choice. Based upon Mr. Clarke’s answers, this Court concludes he is competent to waive
his constitutional right to be represented by an attorney and is waiving that right freely,
voluntarily, and knowingly. Finally, this Court concludes Mr. Clarke has a full
appreciation and understanding of the waiver and its consequences. Accordingly,

Mr. Clarke’s Motion for Self-Representation is granted.

B. Standby Counsel

This Court concludes it is appropriate to appoint standby counsel so there will be
no delay should this Court later terminate Mr. Clarke’s self-representation. During the
October 24, 2019, hearing, Mr. Clarke indicated his preference that standby counsel not be
a member of the Washoe County Public Defender’s Office. As such, this Court also
initiated a closed Young hearing at the conclusion of the Faretta canvas.

A defendant in a criminal trial does not have an unlimited right to substitution of

counsel. Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 362, 23 P.3d 227, 237 (2001), abrogated on other

grounds by Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235. Absent a showing of adequate

cause, a defendant is not entitled to reject court-appointed counsel and request
substitution of other counsel at public expense. Id. However, where there is a “complete

collapse of the attorney-client relationship,” a refusal to substitute counsel violates a

N NN NN N NN
0 N O AW N

(citing United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 (9th Cir. 1998)).

Mere loss of confidence in appointed counsel does not establish good cause for
substitution. Gallego, 117 Nev. at 363, 23 P.3d at 27. Rather, good cause exists under
circumstances Where there is a “complete breakdown of communication, or an
irreconcilable conflict which could lead to an apparently unjust verdict.” 1d. (quoting 3

LaFave, Criminal Procedure, § 11.4(b), at 555). “Attorney-client conflicts justify the grant
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of a substitution motion only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to prevent
presentation of an adequate defense.” Id.

While Mr. Clarke articulated a loss of confidence in his appointed counsel, the
issues he described during the hearing on this matter did not rise to the level of an actual
conflict sufficient to warrant substitution. Counsel has been in contact with Mr. Clarke on
multiple occasions, and they remain able to professionally communicate and discuss his
legal options. While this Court acknowledges Mr. Clarke’s concerns, it does not find such
a lack of communication or animosity exists as to prevent standby counsel from providing
advice upon request. Further, counsel is willing and able to advocate on behalf of
Mr. Clarke should such a role become necessary. Accordingly, Mr. Clarke’s request for
substitution of standby counsel is denied. The Washoe County Public Defender’s Office is
appointed to provide standby counsel in this matter.

C. Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea

Mr. Clarke indicated that if his Motion for Self-Representation was granted, he
would seek to withdraw his plea of guilt. If Mr. Clarke intends to pursue this course of
action, he shall file an appropriate motion no later than November 1, 2019, at 5:00 p.m.
The State shall respond no later than November 8, 2019, at 5:00 p.m.

IT IS SO ORDERED

DATED this _Z l day of October, 2019.

I

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

DAVID A. HARDY
District Judge

JA 086




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

FILED
Electronically
CR19-1352

2019-11-04 08:45:45 AM

Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 7569313 : yvi

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Case No. CR19-1352
Plaintiff,
Dept. No. 15
VS.
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant.
/

NOTICE OF FILINGS RECIEVED

Please take notice, on November 1, 2019, this Court received the attached pro se

document(s), as follows:

/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17

JA 087

oria




PH
3585

5 Fages
RRI DV G|

DC~Q9900088179-147

Anthoay LlarKe # 1910b21 el I

S
[
.
b
o~
.

Washoe Lounty Jail

Reno,Neva A a €512

= s
=i 4
= §:> sifetitionec In Prose s
= oS —
=jptd S|l INMe SECOND JuDIOAL DISTRICT COURT OF THe STATE OF NEVADH
— =554t
g, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY DF WASHDE™
t?
\ PETY TION FOR WRAT OF HABEAS CASE ND ORI ~ 1352
il AORPUS: ReRIA-160AGH
74 DECLARATION GF Anthool ATTACHED
31 TN RE:AathonY Clacke NRS 34.430.NRS 34. 360
144 Petitioner. g

15 PETITION FOR WRIT 6F HABEAS LORPUS
‘6, AD TESTIFICANDUM
17\ Petibioner ClarKe is a prebnal detainee - his liberty is restrainecl
191 b¥ Darin Balaam, Washoe tounty Sheriff ot all E Parr Blud Reno, NV.
) l BacKqround |
2l Clarke is charged with the offense of Burglery, inviolation of N.R.S.
2205860 The S’rm‘:angges that on March 2,2019. Clarke entered the Taste
221)0% ﬁhicaﬁo restavrant with the intent 1o commit larceny therein after
23} been convicted of petit larceny an two prior occasions.
24 | GRovND 1
251 FETITIaNER ALLEGES A DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS BUARANTEED” BY ThE DE
oL PROCESS CLAUSE OF TwgE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT
27, STATEMENT OF LAW AvD ARAUIENT
Ab)

(' 0{31')&..\
S T ’[
JA 088




~
T

T+ is insufficient evidence MSUPPOFLC; buraleey charge. The

evidence onlY Show that LlarKe endeced the restavrant and that at ane

. Pafn‘t asKed a cvstomer 1§ the vestaurant was open. Survetllance Fzm‘fage

x [ [

mside the vrestourant revealed tarke waited for the customer to

0

turn her head wherein he reached into the Hip jor, ebtain cash and

deparl the seene.
Stutes contention that he enteved with the intent to commitlareeny

therein is pure speculation given that he had $ 377.00 on his person when

|entecing the restavranl.

0],

AUTAORTY

HL

Lrivarac) intent Pormutaded after Yawbul entry will not Sa*H.S-p)f burq\ar‘v’

Statule. NRS 205. 000 Stute v. Adoms, 1479, 581 P.1d

12,

1%,

W One of the easential elements of burglarY is the entry of o building with the

isilintent to commit grand or ?HH larten¥ or andother felon¥ NRS 205.060. svhd. 1

b Sheiff. Llack Lounty v. HicKs, 1413 Sol P.2d 706. B9 Nev. 73.

I

19 GROUND Z

19l PenTIoNER ALLEGES A DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS “GUARANTEED” BY THE DUE PROCESS

2 CVAUSE ofF THE FouRTEENT AMENDMENT

21 STATEMENT OF THE LAW AuD ARBUMENT

7l MacKen aleges .~ dbstruction of Jushce” by his previosN assigned coonse

23| [Kendra G.Bertschy, band # NV 13071 and alleges that he was mislead by counsel
gy [o the Justice level of proceedings, which induced him waiving his stobutory right
asi/ o a preliminacy hearing.

20/ Sequence of Events:

27 Ms. Bertsthy on JulY 20,2014 c{ur;nq o T-web visit with ClarKe at Wed
e discussed detnils of the line-up. 1t was revealed counsel was reacling Lrom

(T2¥37%9)

JA 089




worK peoduct . T was agreed oy bothsides to 9o forward with the ine- up,

Oond waive appeacance at Ptekiminar‘t-

Tuly 3\,2019,counsel visited ClarKe atf WELT inoreer have him Sign a nohice

of waivec of appearance for preliminart hearing. We wese Still in agreemedl

}

ine-up priof o preliminary hearing.
t—t i ¥ =}

Avgust 1,2014 LlacKe was transparied o Reno Justice Court Dqﬁ”“i

whevtin he wos p\ace_d m the hallwal near Depar‘\’m:nt’.'—l Moments before

the staet of prch’m counsel enttred the room from the court room door and

> Lo I & N & W I

{Said o ClarKe you were identified in a line-up and the witnesses ate hear,

do you want to Sign the waiver 7 Llacke signed thinKing he was idenhfied

Il

n a line-up and wilnesses were present ot court,

On Ochober 23,2012, Ms. Valencia advised this Lourt that it was ne line -

131

| T Llocke had been old the troth he would had not sigaed the waiver.

up conducied ond LlarKe was advised a5 such. ClarKke was never adwised,

Moveover, i1 Simpl¥ 15 no proof Clarke was advised of no line-up was

ju\| ¢ondodted as attested by appointed attoeoey of cerore Ms.Bertschy.

1. Due Protess s violated and ClorKe is preyuchice

12 L onCLUSION

1| ¥ERIFICATION

201] This Lourt Should dismiss all chages in this case.

2l T declare under i‘)encﬂ’r‘l of perjory that the above i1s hrue and covcect .

%DATE Nov 1, 2014 sl /)@Faa_%_—_.
Anthowd @Placife tehhover

yzd T ProSe Natral Pecson
2Ll This document does not contain the Social Securiv number of any person.

DATED Nov 1,201 s} Orithe Mk—’—

23
e hondE T Ro s&
2bl, Nabutal Persen
4%
23

(_30‘?3 Pf))

JA 090




; DECLARATON T SUPPDRT OF WABERS LoRPYS

T am the Petitionec n thiamm,miiécm*m_&lw;__ |

100 Maceh 27,2014 T enteced Taste of thicago restourant tp order foed

and drinK at one pm'vft:’ T asKed a customer Sheei Martinarich if the

() -L [$X] =

restau rant was apen. She veplied TDK “Nigger. Surveillance iside

Liithe restaurants show me waikin 9 for the tostomer o turm her head

o

then 1 veacher mnip the +i?jar vemoved the tash and walkes oJt

pllthe dvncﬂ'3 ovt of retaliabion for what was Seid to me. (see Ex- A)

9l Obsiruchion of Tustice bY appainied counsel Kendra G.Bertsch?, |

ol L was adwised b¥ counsel that T wouicl have a lime-vp priar 4o

ikl preimunary heacing 1a the RIL Avgust 1, 2019, Lounsed walked mto

71 Yhe hathust behind Deot #u moments loefore Yhe prelim and said o

13| me You wiere vdenhfied in g hine-up and witness ore hear, T

11| Sianed The waivee. thinking T was identified w o line un and wrnesses

llweie at the wout. T \earn later while in tourt October 23,2019

ILLE was ne Vine -up held and oecording to Ms.Valeneia, T was inhrmesd of
4 .

s . T was never bold Yhe ruth, TF I was acmed wirh that infocmedion

!i‘ pr;w b %iﬁniﬂﬂ the wower I wavld have not Si@n&al i'but weat o

| ?felu‘m' T4 iFvs and doubt the Surveilance frotage, of R-1-19 will

201‘ Show what ‘na‘p?ef\ eel,

2| L declace, uncdler goenaH';I ot pep‘\} yaY Pral Yhe above is brue and corect
12,|DATE Nov V) 201 Isi vowy (Lanke

23 Anthoirt Llarke (Zhihoner
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STATE vS. ANTHONY CLARKE (D1 2 Pages

District Court
Washoe Gounty

CR18-1352
nne

IN THE SeconDd TuDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE oF NEVADA

ks td

InAND FoRk THE COUNTY DF WASHOE

o

THE STATE OF NEVADA

M n'n'hﬁ ,

v, CASE NO (R 19-1352

AothonY {lacke. Nalural Person, Dept NO: 15
o

pefenclant. i

MOTioN To DUIINISS

Lomes Now, Anthon Clacke the natuval person acting in pro Se, hereby moves this

Court for an Order $oc o Dismissal of the above endidled case based on ingofficient

evidence to support a charge of burglacy.
2 ~F -

This Mobion is made and based upon the attached Palnts and Avthorities, and

yALt

&Y oval or documentary evidence. as mav ke presented at the hearing on

221

ﬂu& matief.

2

I.Backgrauvnd

2}

Clackeis charged withthe offense of Burf}i ,An Violation of N.RS.205.000. The

Skde aleges that on March 7,201, ClarBe entered the Taste of Chicago vesta —

26

veavt with the intenl o commt lace eny therem after haw'nc) been canvictact

21

291

of pp,%f}orcenf on Twd prior occasions, but evidence onlyShow Yhat he

U

1.
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| entered the restavant and that at one point asked a customer if

the reslavrant was open. Surveliance fsotuge inside the restavant

vevealed ClarKe waited for the customer o turn her head wherein

-:\N}\l

he reached into the tip jar, obtuined the cash and depart the

Scené.

S

Stades contention theathe entered with the inTent t commit larceny

|therein is pure specvlation given that he had ¥ 377.00 on-his

7

ol iperson when entecing the restourant.

9 _AUTHORIY ITw SUPPORT

10 Cciminal intent formulated after Ia.w_&,l_e.n.trd_wjH_noI_Saiis{'y_bAufgjar‘f

]

Stiute. N.R.S. 205.000 Shte v. Adams 197%, 681 P.2d 68,94 Nev.503 .

124,

13, _One of the essential elements of bucgiacy 1S the en‘hm/_gf a buTM;nﬂA)Hk

Mllthe intent to tommit grand or pehit larcen?, or any felony N.R.S Z05.060
P ¥ L4 7 4

subd.1. Sheridf. tlarK Lounty .y, H@ﬁ, 1513 Solb P2 76b. 29 Nev.78.

C ONCLUSION

15,
b ClarKe hos suffered prejodice
1),
Isl,

CLharges Should be dismiss g;,f_u_\jtl-\_pr_g_jddl_b_&

DATE Nov . 2, 3019 1L Quthamer (loikRe.

Anthony LlarHe Dek‘nda nt

0 TN PROS Natuial Persan

|t T cleclave under penalty of pugjurs_thed the abave is true and corceel.
24 |DATED Now YV, 214 151 Onilbioras_(honke.

Anthoad Oice W e Detendanl

23 In Prose Neatuwral Person

24 This document. does neot contain the Social secor¥V nuombecs of anY person.

21 Date I\Jo\l 1 201 ’ Respe ciully ‘3dbm;ﬂ:e:[’.

2! ' ll«.z:tk?mq tlonRe

Anthosnd VelarKe DetenzlanT

27 Tn Pro Se Nedured Person
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1 L|AnthonY Clar Ke LI =2
=°530, | [Washoe Lountt Tall
é%;i : Reﬁo, NV %4511
—=5k 2
__ =48 4
= 3 s Defendart Ta Pro se ¢
S e
= ucl v IN THE SEcond Tubwial DISTRILT LOURT oF TME STATE OF NEVADA
T Besd g: i Aun FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHDE
9|| STATE OF NEVADA
10 Plaantif?
I v ' CASE NB°  AR14-135Z
4}
3 Anthony Clar Ke, Pept No 15
DeteardanT,
1. |
151, :
14 Mokisn o Withdraw Gunliy Piea
171 £OMES NowW, Anthany LacKe, a natural pegson, herebY moves
19, this Courl for an Order permitting barKe to Withdraw GuilY Prea. This
! lmobion is based on_anv oral or documentary evidence as may be !srese:itecl
Adlat o lnaa,r-anJa on this matler, And avthorit? attachecl.
ALl PONTS AND AUTHORITIES
24, 4. Statement of the pase
23 Clarke s accused ot Burslart, afelony., Mlavte waived Ms prelimnacy
24| lhearma on August 1,201a. LlarKe enfered his plea of guily on PAuqust 21,3014,
~3 s 4 ~ -
Astlend Ser\tf-nc'mﬁ was Sehedoled for October 7, 201a. At the sent encing
2bllheacing | LlarKe infovmed the Court and counsel that he wantec to represent
275
£
(1.0_3_@)
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himself. LlarKe's Sentencing heacing was moved b October 14, 20 14,

2T NTRODUCTION S

Clare alleges insufficient Pgrﬁnrm;mre by his aggigneé counsel Kendra . Ber-

y[tschy, NV Band # 13071, and alleges that he was mislead by appointed tounsel at

slithe Jushice Courl Shuge of his proteedings. which led to him waiving his prelim-
oo ] J g - 1

linact hearing. Therefore. LlarKe is filing this mobion to Withdraw Guiky Plea.
~ 7

b
14 S € Oy EVE +s .
o Declarabhion of Andhony MarKe

Ms. Bertschy and Llacke came wmts contacl Tuly 30,2019 during an I-Web

Visit.We discussed in detail the line-up.Ms.Bertsche advised me She was vearing

notes about the line-up from another attorney. We both agreed the Vine-up and

Jwaiver tohe present in the preliminary hearing was a good idleal.

On July 31,2019 MS.Bertsc\\y visied me ot he washoe Countt Tail, Durinch this visil

I Sic,ned the notice of waiver of oppearance for preliminary hearing. T and Ms. Ber-

9]

s £SChY Weve n agreement thal o &(ne.«up wilt e tonclucterl pr\'or Yo the prelimin ary -
il lhearing.

1 August 1,2014, T was transpodted to RIC Dept ™4 whetewn T was Places

inthe hall wla? next £ the Couctroom. Momeats before Retiminacy hearing, Ms. Ber-

ischy enteced the. room from the courtroom and Said 10 me You were idenhfied in a

hine-Up ond The witnesses are hear,do you wont to Sign the waiver 7 1 signed

20
2 the waiver thinKing I was idenhfied in a line-up and the wHnesses eve
2| |[there, |
23 L\ogust 24,2019, T endeced my c}uilh! piea inthe Second Tudiaal Distriat Court.
W IIT asKed the newly ass@nezl, attpene? Ms.Valencia f I could see the line up
asilevidente and who were the winesses al the preliminary hearing. I was tole this is
2blinet ovoilable, '
a7
( 2.0f'3 !.’j)
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Sententing was Seheduled for Octobec 7, 2019, Ms Maizie Pusich wins the

cdoroty of recovd . I asked hee the same guestions, but got no answer bot ?

T dont have that in&)ngﬁOn.

On October 23,2019, Ms. Valen tia,advised this Lourt that it was no line-up

tanducted and Mr. ClarKe was 50 advised. This is a misre presentahion of

the fncts. T was not advisedd o h'nf,—up was not conducted.

I8 I had Known a line -Up never ha?Pmcd_,;I. would not hacl sijned |

the waiver in the Justice Lourt. After all of this 1 became Suspitious,asto

why appointed counsel would promise me a line -up priorio the prelimond then

misiead me intp thinKing T was identified in @ line-up that never took

Place. T was coerced. 1 decided v withdraw m¥? plea as Soon as possible

hecause T was mislead by a state apPot'n'hd counsel because they want to

I declare under Pm:w of Pucjuc? that the above is true and cacrech. !

Defendant ITn Pro se

move me thwugh the pocess as fast as possible faget about due process. |

Date W1- 2% 19 :5;_19‘.57%3;3__('/2:1&__ i
Aethony 1% e Matwal Recon

Coereion ocevurs when a defendant s induced by Pmm'\scs ot threats which

deprives the plea of the nature of 4 voluntury act’

cibnat Qo v. woorlford, 50% F.3d 563,570 (Gth Lir. 2000).

(acke Should be allowed to withdraw s P\co..

‘Request thal the chistricl court tonduct a emdenhacy_heaci LY int> the issue

raised.
s documeat does nol contain the sacial securitt no¥ ot any Person.
- d3-14 ' 150 Qb (larkte

Pnthoad Wlarile Matira!lVerson
Dafeadont In P se..

(2 ol.3 pg)
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DECLARATION of AnHon? Clagke

o+ am the defendant n this case and dedare the %”tﬁu);hﬁ .

Evidence 1s insufficient 10 Support a chaige of burglar, charge was

wleged as defendant on Macch 2, 2019, enteced the Taste of Chicago

restavant with the intent b commit larcen? therein after having

been convicted of petit larceny on two prior ocassions, but

,6\/iden:e_ onlY show that I enteved the restavant and al on2 pgir,jg

lashed a costomer ¥ the restavant was open. The customer Sard INK

“Nigger”. Surveillance Show me waiting for the customer to furn her

head then I reached inld the Hp jar removed the cash and left

the restuvant .

T enteved the restavant 10 see 1f it was open So T covld occer Joad

and drinK bot after being called anawe inside., L decided retaliate

lond fake the money sut the iip jar. However, 12 wasgiven bacK b Mr. Pedo

when eonfronted. outside the vesteoant.

The Slates contention thal T enteced the vestavant with intent

D commit lorceny thevein is ?urc sPeculab'on vacri the fact no

evidence. Su?'poft this tlarm and,,I had 9 377.00 on my person

when endecin 9 the restauant,

without late discoveey this exculpator evidence would had not

heen revealed.

1 deciare under ;)enanr of 9@9‘;;(? thal the above Is true and
tortect.

Dade H';la_?i@lﬂz Isi MA 1‘% ‘M& -
Nefeadant Th Pro se.,Natuial Verson

This document does nét: tontmin the socval securty number of ant pecson.

Deke 1. > NGtk i) % Morlez
DEFWVD Tu PeosSe.

Natucal Person

@)

g
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CODE

FILED
Electronically
CR19-1352
2019-11-08 11:14:46 AM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 7579842 : yvilo

Christopher J. Hicks
#7747
One South Sierra Street

Reno,
(775)

NV 89501
328-3200

Attorney for Plaintiff

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* % %
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, Case No: CR19-1352
V. Dept: D15
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant y

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through CHRISTOPHER J.

HICKS, District Attorney of Washoe County, and MARIAH NORTHINGTON,

Deputy District Attorney, and hereby opposes Defendant’s Motion to

Withdraw Plea. Said opposition is based upon the following points and

authorities and all pleadings, papers and documents on file herein and

any testimony taken at a hearing on the matter.

/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter stems from the events that occurred on March 2,
2019, when ANTHONY CLARKE (“Defendant”) entered the Taste of Chicago
restaurant and stole the money out of the tip jar. On March 4, 2019,
Reno Justice Court found probable cause to hold the Defendant. On
March 5, 2019, the Criminal Complaint was filed, charging Burglary, a
violation of NRS 205.060, a category B felony.

On March 25, 2019, the Defendant failed to appear for the
Mandatory Status Conference (“MSC”), and a Bench Warrant was issued.
On July 12, 2019, that Bench Warrant was executed, and an MSC was set
for July 18, 2019. At that MSC, the defense set this matter for a
Preliminary Hearing for August 1, 2019. On July 31, 2019, the
defense a Notice of Waiver of Appearance for Preliminary Hearing,
pursuant to NRS 178.388 and State vs. Sargent, 122 Nev. 210, 128 P.3d
1052 (2006), waving the Defendant’s right to be present at the
Preliminary Hearing. On August 1, 2019, the Defendant executed a
Preliminary Hearing Waiver. Pursuant to negotiations, the Defendant
was to plead to Burglary and the parties would jointly recommend a
sentence of 12 to 36 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections.

The Information and Waiver were filed in District Court on
August 6, 2019. The initial Arraignment was held on August 14, 2019,
at which time the Defendant requested a one-week continuance. At the
August 21, 2019 Arraignment, the Defendant was canvassed by the Court
and entered his guilty plea. The Defendant signed the Guilty Plea

Memorandum on August 21, 2019.
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Sentencing was set for October 7, 2019. At the October 7, 2019
Sentencing hearing, the Defendant indicated he wanted a Young
Hearing. Defense counsel requested a one-week continuance to allow
further discussion with the Defendant. Sentencing was continued to
October 14, 2019. On October 11, 2019, defense counsel filed a
Motion for Self-Representation and a Motion for Young Hearing. On
October 14, 2019, the Court set a Young Hearing on October 23, 2019.

At the October 23, 2019 hearing, the Court executed a Faretta
canvass, and then held a closed Young Hearing. The Court then filed
its Order on October 24, 2019, granting the Defendant’s request to
represent himself. The Court’s Order then instructed that any Motion
seeking to withdraw his guilty plea must be filed no later than
November 1, 2019. On November 1, 2019, the Defendant filed the
following documents: Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, Motion to
Dismiss Case, Motion for Discovery, and Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus Ad Testificandum.

IT. ARGUMENT

NRS 176.165 allows a Defendant to withdraw a plea of guilty
prior to the imposition of sentence. A District Court’s ruling on a
motion to set aside a guilty plea is discretionary and will not be
reversed absent a clear abuse of discretion. Bryant v. State, 102
Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986); Wilson v. State, 99 Nev.
362, 664 P.2d 328 (1983). The Nevada Supreme Court has changed its
rulings over the years regarding exactly what the Court can consider
when determining whether to allow a Defendant to withdraw a guilty plea

prior to sentencing. The law has been, since 1969, that the Court may
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grant such a motion “where for any substantial reason the granting of
the privilege seems ‘fair and just’.” State v. Second Judicial District
Court, 85 Nev. 381, 455 P.2d 923 (1969).

However, the inquiry into what is “fair and just” has change over
time. In Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d 1123 (2001), the
Nevada Supreme Court focused on ‘fair and just’ in the context of
whether the plea was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. In 2015, the
Nevada Supreme Court abrogated their decision in Crawford in Stevenson
v. State, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 61, 354 P.3d 1277, (2015). In Stevenson,
the Nevada Supreme Court stated that they were disavowing Crawford’s
exclusive focus on the validity of the entry of a plea and found that a
court should consider the totality of the circumstances to determine
whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would
be fair and just.

a. DEFENDANT VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED
HIS GUILTY PLEA, AND THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL FAIR OR JUST
REASON TO ALLOW WITHDRAWAL OF HIS GUILTY PLEA

The Defendant’s contention is that he was misled by his attorney.
The Defendant asserts that his attorney promised him a line-up that
would occur prior to or at the time of the Preliminary Hearing. The
Defendant further asserts that on August 1, 2019, he was transported to
the hallway next to a courtroom in the Reno Justice Court, and was told
by his attorney that he was identified in that hallway in a lineup, and
that is the only reason he signed the Preliminary Hearing Waiver.

Then, in the Declaration attached to the Motion, the Defendant asserts

that on March 2, 2019, he did enter the Taste of Chicago restaurant,
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but only stole the money from the tip jar as retaliation after being
purportedly offended by a customer in the store.

The State would like to note certain irregularities in the
Defendant’s Motion. First, in the Reno Justice Court, in-custody
Defendants are never taken into the hallways. They are transported
from the cells directly to the courtrooms via sally ports. As such,
the State is unsure how this allegedly fabricated hallway line up
actually occurred. Additionally, the State is unsure why a line up
would have been promised or even requested, given that in his own
Declaration, the Defendant contends his only dispute with the charge is
that he did not form the intent to steal the money until after he was
offended by a customer in the store. Therefore, given the facts of the
charge and the Defendant’s own statements, the State cannot see any
potential relevance of a line up.

b. DEFENDANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE HIS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE

It seems to the State that the Defendant’s Motion might be based
upon an assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Nevada
Supreme Court addressed the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel
as a basis to withdraw a guilty plea in Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185,
87 P.3d 533 (2004) in which the court stated:

The question of whether a criminal defendant has

received ineffective assistance of counsel presents
mixed questions of law and fact, and is subject to

independent review. We review claims of ineffective
assistance of counsel under the two-part test set
forth in Strickland v. Washington. (citations
omitted) . Under Strickland, the defendant must

demonstrate that his counsel’s performance was
deficient, i.e. it fell below an objective standard

of reasonableness, and that the deficient
JA105
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performance prejudiced the defense. However, in
order to eliminate the distorting effects of
hindsight, courts indulge in a strong presumption
that counsel’s representation falls within the broad
range of reasonable assistance. Id at 190.

In Molina the Defendant based his motion to withdraw his guilty
plea on the fact that he only met with his defense counsel once,
that they only discussed the evidence the evening before trial, and
that his defense counsel failed to adequately discuss the options of
proceeding to trial and failed to provide a defense. At a hearing
on the matter, the defense attorney testified to the communications
with Molina regarding all of his allegations. The defense attorney
testified that he discussed the lack of a defense and that the
State’s offer was the best he could obtain, and that it was Molina
who decided it was in his best interest to accept the plea
agreement. The defense attorney then went over the plea agreement
and all of its consequences with Molina prior to the plea.

Upon review of Molina, the Nevada Supreme Court upheld the
denial of the motion to withdraw his guilty plea, finding that the
District Court carefully canvassed Molina on his understanding of
the proceedings, the nature of the charges, and the possible
penalties, and the fact that Molina signed a plea agreement
memorializing the negotiations and manifested an understanding of
its terms. Also, during the canvass of the defendant, he
affirmatively admitted his guilt in connection with the charges and
failed to demonstrate that his attorney’s performance was deficient

under Strickland. Molina at 191.
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In this case, the Defendant waived his preliminary hearing on
August 1, 2019, with the understanding that he would enter a guilty
plea to the charge of Burglary with a jointly recommended sentence
of 12-36 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. At that
point, the Defendant had the video surveillance from the restaurant
and made the decision to accept plea negotiations. Then on August
21, 2019, the Defendant was carefully canvassed by this Court and
admitted to committing the crime alleged with the intent alleged,
and plead guilty, as reflected in this Court’s Minutes as well as
the Guilty Plea Memorandum. During this canvas, the Defendant
admitted his guilt, acknowledged the negotiations, told the Court he
was aware of the potential penalty, indicated he had sufficient time
to speak to his counsel, and that he was satisfied with the
representation of counsel. This Court found that the Defendant’s
plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent. See Court Minutes.

There is nothing in the record, or common knowledge, to support
the Defendant’s contention that he was promised a line up in the
hallway of the Reno Justice Court and was told that said line up
occurred. Further, there is nothing in the record to support his
assertion that an alleged line up is what caused him to waive, given
that the crime itself was captured on video surveillance and the
Defendant himself concedes that he took that money. Just like in
the Molina case, the Defendant fails to set out reasonable,
credible, or adequate grounds to illustrate that the performance of
his attorney fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and

that the deficient performance prejudiced the Defendant by allowing
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him to enter a guilty plea to the crime committed with a joint
recommendation of the minimum sentence.
c. DEFENDANT’S POTENTIAL CLAIM OF FACTUAL INNOCENCE IS BELIED
BY THE FACTS

Although not addressed in the substantive portion of the
Defendant’s Motion, in his Declaration he asserts that there is
insufficient evidence to support a charge of Burglary because,
according to the Defendant, he entered the restaurant, asked a
customer if it was open, and when the customer allegedly offended
him, he then stole the money out of the tip jar. He bases this
contention on the sole assertion that he had $377 dollars on his
person when entering the restaurant. However, that is not true.

After leaving the restaurant with the tip money, the owner of
the restaurant, Steve Peto, was able to stop the Defendant from
getting away until police arrived. After being detained by the
police, a search of the Defendant’s person found a total of $35
dollars, the $35 he stole from the tip jar. Per booking records,
the Defendant had $0 on his person when he was booked into the
Washoe County Jail. Thus, all the facts establish that, contrary to
the Defendant’s contention, he had no money on him when he entered
that restaurant. Further, even if he did, the video surveillance
shows the Defendant walking by the restaurant on the sidewalk,
peering through the large windows, where it can clearly be seen
there is no worker standing behind the counter and there is a tip
jar full of cash. After the Defendant walks in the front door of

the restaurant, he walks up to the counter, stands next to the
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customer, and as soon as the customer turns her head, he reaches in
and steals the cash out of the tip jar. This entire series of
events, from the moment the Defendant walks into the restaurant
until he has the tip money in hand, takes 7 seconds. Although it is
possible that the Defendant’s statement of events occurred, it is
not probable, especially given the fact that the Defendant had no
money on him when he entered that restaurant.

The Nevada Supreme Court has established that withdrawal of a
guilty plea may be warranted when there is a “credible claim of
factual innocence and [a] lack of prejudice to the state.” Mitchell
v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 141, 848 P.2d 1060, 1062 (1993). 1In this
case, there is no credibility to the Defendant’s self-serving
declaration that there is insufficient evidence to support the
Burglary charge.

Additionally, the Defendant’s extensive criminal history reveals
that he has been through the system on numerous prior occasions and
understands the pressures of a pending criminal case. The Court in
Stevenson made the observation that, “Moreover, time constraints and
pressure from interested parties exist in every criminal case and there
is no indication in the record that their presence here prevented
Stevenson from making a voluntary and intelligent choice among the

”

options available.” Stevenson, supra at 1281. That is exactly the
case here. The Defendant was presented with his options by his defense
counsel, including the potential for the imposition of Habitual

Criminal Treatment, and he chose to enter a plea with a joint

recommendation of the minimum sentence. The Defendant’s buyer’s
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remorse is not a just and fair reason to allow him to withdraw his
plea. As pointed out in Stevenson, “The guilty plea is not a
placeholder that reserves [a defendant’s] right to our criminal
system’s incentives for acceptance of responsibility unless or until a
preferable alternative later arises..[r]ather, it is a grave and solemn
act, which is accepted only with care and discernment.”

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the totality of the circumstances as described above,

ANTHONY CLARKE has failed to carry his burden to demonstrate that his
plea was not voluntarily, intelligently and knowingly entered, and that
it would be fair and just to allow him to withdraw his plea. There has
been no fair and just reason provided that is supported by any evidence
which would allow the Defendant to withdraw from his guilty plea.
Thus, the State asks the court to deny the Defendant’s Motion or, in
the alternative, set the matter for an evidentiary hearing so that the
Defendant can present evidence to meet his burden to demonstrate a fair
and just reason to allow the withdrawal of his guilty plea.
/1]
/1]
/1]
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

document does not contain the social security number of any person.

Dated this 8th day of November, 2019
CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington

MARTIAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of
the Washoe County District Attorney's Office and that, on this date,
I deposited for mailing at Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, a true copy

of the foregoing document, addressed to:

Washoe County Detention Facility
Anthony Clarke, Inmate #1910622
911 Parr Blvd.

Reno, NV 89512

DATED this 8th day of November, 2019.

/s/ Janelle Yost
JANELLE YOST
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CR19-1352
2019-11-08 11:14:46 AM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 7579842 : yvilo

Christopher J. Hicks
#7747
One South Sierra Street

Reno,
(775)

NV 89501
328-3200

Attorney for Plaintiff

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* % %
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, Case No: CR19-1352
V. Dept: D15
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant y

STATE’'S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through CHRISTOPHER J.

HICKS, District Attorney of Washoe County, and MARIAH NORTHINGTON,

Deputy District Attorney, and hereby opposes Defendant’s Motion to

Dismiss. Said opposition is based upon the following points and

authorities and all pleadings, papers and documents on file herein and

any testimony taken at a hearing on the matter.
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/17
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter stems from the events that occurred on March 2,
2019, when ANTHONY CLARKE (“Defendant”) entered the Taste of Chicago
restaurant and stole the tip money out of the tip jar. On March 4,
2019, Judge Sullivan of Reno Justice Court found Probable Cause to
hold the Defendant. On March 5, 2019, the Defendant was charged via
Criminal Complaint with Burglary, a violation of NRS 205.060, a
category B felony.

On March 25, 2019, the Defendant failed to appear for the
Mandatory Status Conference (“™MSC”), and a Bench Warrant was issued.
On July 12, 2019, that Bench Warrant was executed, and an MSC was set
for July 18, 2019. At that MSC, the defense set this matter for a
Preliminary Hearing for August 1, 2019. On August 1, 2019, the
Defendant executed a Preliminary Hearing Waiver. Pursuant to
negotiations, the Defendant was to plead guilty to Burglary and the
parties would jointly recommend a sentence of 12 to 36 months in the
Nevada Department of Corrections.

The Information and Waiver were filed in District Court on
August 6, 2019. At the August 21, 2019 continued Arraignment, the
Defendant was canvassed by the Court and entered his guilty plea.
The Defendant signed the Guilty Plea Memorandum on August 21, 2019.
Sentencing is currently scheduled on November 25, 2019. On November
1, 2019, the Defendant filed the following documents: Motion to
Withdraw Guilty Plea, Motion to Dismiss Case, Motion for Discovery,

and Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum.
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IT. ARGUMENT

The Defendant’s contention is that there is insufficient
evidence to support the Burglary charge. The State is unsure what
procedural mechanism the Defendant’s Motion is based upon. This
matter did not proceed to a Preliminary Hearing due to the
Defendant’s Waiver, and therefore there has not yet been an
evidentiary based hearing in this matter to establish whether there
is sufficient evidence to hold the Defendant for trial, given his
acceptance of plea negotiations and subsequent guilty plea.
Therefore, it would be the State’s position that this requested
relief be denied at this time, or held in abeyance, until this Court
rules on the Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, at which time the

procedural posture of this case will be settled.

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the current procedural posture of this case, the State

respectfully requests that this Motion be denied, or alternatively,

that this Motion be held in abeyance pending this Court’s ruling on the

Motion to Withdraw Plea.
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17
/17

/17
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

document does not contain the social security number of any person.

Dated this 8th day of November, 2019
CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington

MARTIAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of
the Washoe County District Attorney's Office and that, on this date,
I deposited for mailing at Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, a true copy

of the foregoing document, addressed to:

Washoe County Detention Facility
Anthony Clarke, Inmate #1910622
911 Parr Blvd.

Reno, NV 89512

DATED this 8th day of November, 2019.

/s/ Janelle Yost
JANELLE YOST
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FILED
Electronically
CR19-1352
2019-11-08 11:14:46 AM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 7579842 : yvilo

CODE

Christopher J. Hicks
#7747

One South Sierra Street
Reno, NV 89501

(775) 328-3200

Attorney for Plaintiff

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* % %
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, Case No: CR19-1352
V. Dept: D15
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant y

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through CHRISTOPHER J.
HICKS, District Attorney of Washoe County, and MARIAH NORTHINGTON,
Deputy District Attorney, and hereby responds to Defendant’s Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Said Response is based upon the following
points and authorities and all pleadings, papers and documents on file
herein and any testimony taken at a hearing on the matter.
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter stems from the events that occurred on March 2,
2019, when ANTHONY CLARKE (“Defendant”) entered the Taste of Chicago
restaurant and stole the tip money out of the tip jar. On August 1,
2019, the Defendant executed a Preliminary Hearing Waiver. Pursuant
to negotiations, the Defendant was to plead guilty to Burglary and
the parties would jointly recommend a sentence of 12 to 36 months in
the Nevada Department of Corrections. The Information and Waiver
were filed in District Court on August 6, 2019. The initial
Arraignment was held on August 14, 2019, at which time the Defendant
requested a one-week continuance. At the August 21, 2019
Arraignment, the Defendant was canvassed by the Court and entered his
guilty plea. The Defendant signed the Guilty Plea Memorandum on
August 21, 2019. Sentencing is currently scheduled on November 25,
2019. On November 1, 2019, the Defendant filed several documents,
including this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum.
IT. ARGUMENT

NRS 34.700(1) provides, in pertinent part, that “.a pretrial
petition for a writ of habeas corpus based on alleged lack of
probable cause or otherwise challenging the court's right or
jurisdiction to proceed to the trial of a criminal charge may not be
considered unless..(a) The petition and all supporting documents are
filed within 21 days after the first appearance of the accused in the

7

district court...” (emphasis added).

/17
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The Defendant had his first District Court appearance at his
August 14, 2019 Arraignment, which was continued to August 21, 2019
at the defense’s request. Therefore, the Defendant had until
September 4, 2019 to file a pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus. This filing, on November 1, 2019, is therefore barred.

Further, procedurally, it is the State’s position that this
Petition cannot be considered because, as demonstrated by the
language of NRS 34.700, such pretrial Petitions are to be filed prior
to the entry of the guilty plea and when a matter is set for a trial.
There have not yet been any evidentiary based hearings in this case,
given the Defendant’s waiver of his Preliminary Hearing. Therefore,
it would be the State’s position that this requested relief be denied
at this time, or held in abeyance, until this Court rules on the
Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the current procedural posture of this case, the State
respectfully requests that this Petition be denied as untimely pursuant
to NRS 34.700, or alternatively, that this Petition be held in abeyance
pending this Court’s ruling on the Motion to Withdraw Plea.

/1]
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

document does not contain the social security number of any person.

Dated this 8th day of November, 2019
CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington

MARTIAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of
the Washoe County District Attorney's Office and that, on this date,
I deposited for mailing at Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, a true copy

of the foregoing document, addressed to:

Washoe County Detention Facility
Anthony Clarke, Inmate #1910622
911 Parr Blvd.

Reno, NV 89512

DATED this 8th day of November, 2019.

/s/ Janelle Yost
JANELLE YOST
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Christopher J. Hicks
#7747
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Reno, NV 89501

(775) 328-3200

Attorney for Plaintiff

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* % %
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, Case No: CR19-1352
V. Dept: D15
ANTHONY CLARKE,
Defendant y

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR DISCOVERY

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through CHRISTOPHER J.
HICKS, District Attorney of Washoe County, and MARIAH NORTHINGTON,
Deputy District Attorney, and hereby responds Defendant’s Motion for
Discovery. Said response is based upon the following points and
authorities and all pleadings, papers and documents on file herein and
any testimony taken at a hearing on the matter.
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter stems from the events that occurred on March 2,
2019, when ANTHONY CLARKE (“Defendant”) entered the Taste of Chicago
restaurant and stole the tip money out of the tip jar. On August 1,
2019, the Defendant executed a Preliminary Hearing Waiver. Pursuant
to negotiations, the Defendant was to plead guilty to Burglary and
the parties would jointly recommend a sentence of 12 to 36 months in
the Nevada Department of Corrections. The Information and Waiver
were filed in District Court on August 6, 2019. The initial
Arraignment was held on August 14, 2019, at which time the Defendant
requested a one-week continuance. At the August 21, 2019
Arraignment, the Defendant was canvassed by the Court and entered his
guilty plea. The Defendant signed the Guilty Plea Memorandum on
August 21, 2019. Sentencing is currently scheduled on November 25,
2019. On November 1, 2019, the Defendant filed several documents,
including this Motion for Discovery.
IT. ARGUMENT

The State has provided discovery to Defendant in compliance with
NRS 174.235 and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963).
To date, the following items have been discovered to the defense:
Certified Copies of the Defendant’s Petit Larceny convictions, the
Body Camera Footage from all responding Officers, the Probable Cause
Sheet, the Police Report, the video surveillance from Taste of
Chicago, the Evidence Release relating to the $35, and the Witness

Statements of Katherine Tyrrell, Steve Peto, and Sheri Martinovich.
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There has been no further evidence generated or received. The State

recognizes its continuing duty to disclose discovery.

each

As to the Defendant’s specific requests, the State will address

of them below:

. Defendant’s request for the names of the prosecution’s witnesses

for the August 1, 2019 Preliminary Hearing - The defense is
aware of all the State’s witnesses from the Police Reports and
Witness Statements, as well as the Witness List that is provided

as part of the August 6, 2019 Information.

. Defendant’s request for the definition of Habitual Criminal

other than NRS 207.010 - The State is unsure what evidence the

Defendant is requesting.

. Defendant’s request for the body camera footage - All body

camera footage was provided to the Defendant through his
previously appointed counsel. Given that the Defendant is now
representing himself with the Public Defender’s Office as stand-
by counsel, the undersigned attorney is unsure, procedurally
speaking, how the Defendant himself now views that evidence.

The undersigned spoke with the Washoe County Jail, and they have
indicated that is something the Defendant would have to

facilitate with Jail Staff.

. Defendant’s request for the names of all the prosecution’s

witnesses — Please see Item 1. Defendant’s request for all
exculpatory and impeachment evidence - The State is aware of its

obligations under NRS 174.235 and Brady.
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5. Defendant’s request for a “complete copy of the Mandatory Status
Conference for Reno Justice Court” - The State is unsure what
exactly the Defendant is requesting.

IIT. CONCLUSION
Due to the disclosure of all discovery in this case, as well as
the fact that the State is aware of its duties pursuant to NRS 174.235

and Brady, the State respectfully requests that this Motion be denied.

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding
document does not contain the social security number of any person.
Dated this 8t day of November, 2019

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By: /s/ Mariah Northington
MARIAH NORTHINGTON
14247
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of
the Washoe County District Attorney's Office and that, on this date,
I deposited for mailing at Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, a true copy

of the foregoing document, addressed to:

Washoe County Detention Facility
Anthony Clarke, Inmate #1910622
911 Parr Blvd.

Reno, NV 89512

DATED this 8th day of November, 2019.

/s/ Janelle Yost
JANELLE YOST
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Electronically
CR19-1352
2019-11-21 02:24:56
Jacqueline Bryan
Clerk of the Cour
Transaction # 76018

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
Case No.: CR19-1352
Vs.
ANTHONY CLARKE, Dept. No.: 15
Defendant.

/
ORDER DENYING MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA

Before this Court is Defendant Anthony Clarke’s opposed Motion to Withdraw
Guilty Plea, dated November 1, 2019. This Court has considered all moving papers and
the evidence presented at the hearing; it now finds and orders as follows:

I. Background and Procedural History

On March 2, 2019, police officers detained Mr. Clarke following a report of a fight.
Police interviewed Steve Peto, the owner of the Taste of Chicago restaurant. Mr. Peto
alleged Mr. Clarke entered the restaurant, stole money from the tip jar, then attempted to
run away. Mr. Clarke is charged with the offense of Burglary, in violation of NRS 205.060.
The State alleges Mr. Clarke entered the Taste of Chicago restaurant with the intent to
commit larceny therein, after having been convicted of petit larceny on two prior

occasions.

PM
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On August 6, 2019, Mr. Clarke waived his preliminary examination. Subsequently,
on August 21, 2019, he pled guilty to the offense, subject to an agreement that both
Mr. Clarke and the State stipulate to recommend a sentence of 12 to 36 months
imprisonment in the Nevada State Department of Corrections. However, at his intended
sentencing hearing, Mr. Clarke orally informed this Court he wished to represent himself
and withdraw his plea of guilt. Following a Faretta canvas, this Court granted
Mr. Clarke’s motion for self-representation and appointed the Washoe County Public
Defender’s Office as standby counsel.

II. Principles of Law and Analysis

NRS 176.165 permits a defendant to move to withdraw his or her plea of guilt
before sentence is imposed. In determining whether such a plea may be withdrawn, a
court must consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether permitting
withdrawal would be “fair and just.” Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 603, 354 P.3d 1277,
1281 (2015); see also State v. Dist. Ct., 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969) (“granting

of the motion to withdraw one’s plea before sentencing is proper where for any substantial
reason the granting of the privilege seems fair and just.”).

Mr. Clarke argues he was misled by his defense counsel, improperly inducing his
guilty plea. Specifically, Mr. Clarke alleges he pled guilty based upon defense counsel’s
representation prior to his preliminary hearing waiver that witnesses were prepared to
testify he had been identified in a lineup. However, no lineup was conducted. Mr. Clarke
states he would not have pled guilty had he known no lineup evidence existed. During a
closed Young hearing, defense counsel asserted there were no case notes indicating
Mr. Clarke was advised regarding the existence of a lineup.

As an attachment to his motion, Mr. Clarke provided a declaration in which he
argues the evidence is insufficient to support the charge of burglary. He acknowledges he
took tip money from the Taste of Chicago restaurant, but asserts he did not enter the
establishment with the intent to do so. Rather, he states he entered the restaurant to see if

it was open, but decided to take the money after he was called a racial slur once inside.
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After considering the record in this action as a whole, this Court concludes there is
not a substantial fair and just reason supporting withdrawal of Mr. Clarke’s plea. On
August 21, 2019, Mr. Clarke signed a guilty plea memorandum indicating he had
considered and discussed all possible defenses and defense strategies with his counsel. He
further affirmed his plea was made freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and with a full
understanding of all matters set forth in the Information. During his arraignment on the
same day, Mr. Clarke affirmed he understood his rights, his attorney was able to answer
any questions he had, and he was satisfied with her services. He appeared to be aware
and engaged during this exchange, as shown when he prompted defense counsel to ask if
he would be permitted to waive his PSI and proceed to sentencing early. At no point did
he raise concerns that he had been unable to review discovery related to a lineup. During
his presentence investigation interview, performed on September 10, 2019, Mr. Clarke
admitted to committing the offense to which he pled, stating he needed money for drugs.
He indicated he would like to be sent to a treatment program. Again, he did not mention
any issues arising from his plea, information not relayed to him by counsel, or an alleged
lineup. |

The first time Mr. Clarke mentioned the existence of a lineup was in the context of a
motion for substitution of counsel on October 7, 2019, the day he was scheduled to be
sentenced. At this point, Mr. Clarke listed a number ovfidisagreéments with defense

counsel, including her refusal to provide him with lineup evidence. However, he did

not indicate his plea turned on the existence of such a lineup. Subsequently, in a pro se
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed on November 1, 2019, Mr. Clarke indicated he
had been told his counsel and the State agreed to perform a lineup before his preliminary
hearing occurred, which caused him to waive his originally scheduled preliminary
hearing. In this petition, Mr. Clarke appears to express frustration that counsel did not
follow through with arranging such a lineup but, confusingly, later told him the

lineup had actually occurred. When considered within the context of the entire

JA 130




O 0O N o U1 A W N =

N N N N N N N N N = o b b b bk b et
o N o 0 A W N = O W O N OOV A W N =~ O

record, these communications raise questions as to consistency of Mr. Clarke’s beliefs
regarding the centrality of the lineup evidence to his plea.

Finally, there are significant logical inconsistencies in Mr. Clarke’s argument.

Mr. Clarke was represented by a different public defender when he waived his
preliminary hearing than when he entered his guilty plea. It is unlikely two counsel were
similarly mistaken as to the existence of a lineup when a third counsel has stated no such
notation exists in either counsel’s notes. In addition, a lineup could not have been
conducted outside of Mr. Clarke’s presence. It is difficult to understand how Mr. Clarke,
who has significant experience with law enforcement, would have believed he was
identified in a lineup when he never participated in one. Finally, police records indicate
Mr. Clarke was immediately chased and held by the owner of the restaurant and

there is surveillance video showing him committing the alleged theft. This evidence is
consistent with Mr. Clarke’s arguments that the primary issue at trial would be his intent
rather than mistaken identity. Thus, it is not apparent why Mr. Clarke’s decision to plead
guilty would have turned upon the existence of a lineup identification.

After considering the totality of the circumstances, this Court finds there is
insufficient evidence to conclude Mr. Clarke entered his plea of guilt due to a mistaken
belief additional inculpatory evidence existence. Accordingly, there is no substantial fair
and just reason to permit Mr. Clarke to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing.

Mr. Clarke’s Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea is denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED

DATED this Z [__day of November, 2019.

7%1/#7

BAVID A. HAR
District Judge
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RENO MUNICIFAL COURT

CASE SUMMARY
CASE NoO. 15CR-15211

CITY OF RENO § Location: Citation

Vs, § Filed on: 10/19/2015
ANTHONY CLARKE § Booking Number: 15-17171

§ Process Control Number:  RPD1512936C

§

§

CASE INFORMATION
Offense Citation Deg Date Case Type: Misdemeanor Arrest

1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650 15-22978 M 10/17/2015

Statistical Closures

10/20/2015 Guilty Plea with Sentence (before trial}

PARTY INFORMATION

Plaintift

Defendant

CITY OF RENO

CLARKE, ANTHONY
DOB: 04/13/1959 Age: 56

DATE

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT

10/20/2015

10/20/2015

10/20/2015

10/17/2015

10/19/2015
10/20/2015

10/20/2015

10/19/2015

10/20/2015

DISPOSITIONS

Plea (Judicial Officer: Nash Holmes, Dorothy)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
Nolo Contendere

Dispaosition (Judicial Officer: Nash Holmes, Dorothy)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
Found Guilty
Imposed (Judicial Officer; Nash Holmes, Dorothy)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
10/17/2015 (M) 8.10.040 (56404)

Sentence to Confinement
Agency: Washoe County Jail
Term: 45 Days
Comment: CTS, C/C

EVENTS
Bail Set At: $

500.00
& Formal Complaint Filed With the Court

Rights Explained
Defendant appeared, explained his/her righis by the Judge and indicated that he/she understood them
completely.

ﬁ Judges Notes
HEARINGS

CANCELED 1In Custody Video Arraignments (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer: Nash Holmes, Dorothy)
Arraignment/Hearing Continued by Court

In Custody Video Arraignments (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer: Nash Holmes, Dorothy)
Held
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RENO MunNICIPAL COURT

CASE SUMMARY
CASE No. 15CR-18116

CITY OF RENO § Location: Citation

Vs, § Filed on: 12/28/2015
ANTHONY CLARKE § Booking Number; 15-20865

§ Process Control Number: RPD1516400C

§

§

CASE INFORMATION
Offense Citation Deg Date Case Type: Misdemeanor Arrest

1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650 15-27286 M 12/26/2015

Statistical Closures

12/29/2015 Guilty Plea with Sentence (before trial)

PARTY INFORMATION

Plaintiff CITY OF RENO
Defendant CLARKE, ANTHONY
DOB: 04/13/1959 Age: 56
DATE EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT
DISPOSITIONS
12/28/2015 Plea (Judicial Officer: Gardner, William)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
Nolo Contendere
12/28/2015 Disposition (Judicial Officer: Gardner, William)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
Found Guilty
12/28/2015 Imposed (Judicial Officer: Gardner, William)
1. 8.10.040 Petit Larceny, Value Less than $650
12/26/2015 (M) 8.10.040 (56404)
Sentence to Confinement
Agency: Washoe County Jail
Term: 90 Days
Comment: CTS
EVENTS
12/26/2015 Bail Set At: $
500.00
12/28/2015 @ Formal Complaint Filed With the Court
12/28/2015 '{a Pre-trial Services Assessment Report
12/28/2015 Judges Notes
12/28/2015 Rights Explained
Defendant appeared, explained his/her rights by the Judge and indicated that he/she understood them
completely.
12/28/2015 Present in Court:
FOR THE CITY OF RENQ: FOR THE DEFENSE: CONWAY
12/25/2015 Case Completely Closed
HEARINGS
12/28/2015 In Custody Video Arraignments (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer: Gardner, William)
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151 Country Estates Circle
Reno, Nevada 89512

THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE
BEFORE THE HONORABLE DAVID N. HARDY, DISTRICT JUDGE

-000-
STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
vs . Case No. CR19-1352
ANTHONY CLARKE, : Dept. No. 15
Defendant. :

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

SENTENCING

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25TH, 2019

Reno, Nevada

Reported By: ERIN T. FERRETTO, CCR #2281
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A PPEARANCES

FOR THE PLAINTIFF:

FOR THE DEFENDANT:

ALSO PRESENT:

PAROLE AND PROBATION:

MARIAH NORTHINGTON, ESQ.
Deputy District Attorney
One South Sierra Street

Reno, Nevada

In Pro Per

LORENA VALENCIA, ESQ.
Deputy Public Defender
350 S. Center Street
Reno, Nevada

ROBERT GLASS
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RENO, NEVADA, MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25TH, 2019, 11:10 A.M.

-000-

THE COURT: We'll now turn to Mr. Clarke,
CR19-1352.

Ms. Valencia, if you'll actually pass the bar and
just stand there --

MS. VALENCIA: Okay.

THE COURT: -- versus standing next to the aisle.
And you are not required to do or say anything, but if at
any time Mr. Clarke wishes to consult with you privately,
I will give that opportunity.

Mr. Clarke appears on his own behalf.

I am so embarrassed --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Ms. Northington.

THE COURT: I know, I'm looking at the notes, I
didn't acknowledge you when I saw all the attorneys out
there who were here and going off cases.

So Ms. Northington is present. You have read,

Mr. Clarke and Ms. Northington, the order I entered
denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea. It

speaks for itself. I have nothing else to say.

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA 146
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This is the time set for entry of judgment and
imposition of sentence.

Mr. Clarke, have you had a chance to review the
Presentence Investigation Report? And, if so, do you
have any corrections to make?

MR. CLARKE: Yes, I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Please.

MR. CLARKE: May I pass this to you?

THE COURT: No, I don't want -- Deputy, just if
you'll -- let's see -- I'm not going to tell you how to
do your job.

Hand it to Ms. Valencia, if you would please,
Mr. Clarke.

Ms. Valencia will hand it to Ms. Northington.

Is there a copy for me?

MR. CLARKE: No. I don't have access to copy
machines.

THE COURT: Tell me what it is, please.

MR. CLARKE: Correction of some of the facts found
in the PSI report.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE DEFENDANT: And I pointed out a few things
that I could under the time and --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, may I approach?

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA147
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THE COURT: Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT: First page -- give me a second to
get it together here. Give me a moment.

It says I have 10 felony convictions. I've never
been convicted for 10 felonies in my life. And I can
point out a few things on page four.

In 1977 -- they start from 1977, each one of these
on page four, they have no case numbers at all.

On page seven where it says 8/2/12 in Hawthorne,
California, they counted them as felonies but they're
misdemeanors.

Also, on 5/18/13 it says first-degree burglary is
a felony but there's no case number.

The same thing applies up under that, it says
4/12/15, disorderly conduct, there's no case number, a
misdemeanor.

The same thing up under that shoplifting,
misdemeanor, there's no case number.

THE COURT: So your position is that if there's no
case number the crime did not occur?

MR. CLARKE: I'm saying it's not me.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE DEFENDANT: Also, if you look at page eight,

each one of the Nevada convictions has case numbers.

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA148
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Page nine, they claim it's a felony but it was
reduced to a misdemeanor; in fact, it was reduced to a
gross misdemeanor.

THE COURT: Which one are you referring to, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: The Reno case number, CR16-1968 on
page nine.

And on page ten, under CR17-1138, that's a
misdemeanor -- wait. Excuse me. No, that's correct.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE DEFENDANT: Then you have the instant case,
which is a CR19-1352.

And the PSI report also indicates that I have
47 -- 37 misdemeanors. That's not true, your Honor. I
don't have 37 misdemeanors.

It also says I have prison 13 times. I've only
had one prison number and that's a C number back in
California. I've never had 13 convictions 1in prison.

At this point, your Honor, may I speak?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: I'd 1like to invoke my right to
counsel, Ms. Valencia.

THE COURT: No. We're past that.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: We've gone past that. And when I had

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA 149
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the Faretta canvass, I was very clear. You may proceed
on your own behalf as you requested.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. On page ten it says that I
was arrested for following --

THE COURT: Ms. Northington -- excuse me, sir --
Ms. Northington, are you aware of any authority which
would compel me to reconstitute counsel simply upon his
request?

MS. NORTHINGTON: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

I should note that I believe that there is
some either uninformed choices that we examined during
the Faretta canvass or there's intentional gamesmanship,
one of the two, and based upon the entirety of this
record, his request for counsel at the moment of his
sentencing will be denied.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Your Honor, if I may, I do

remember at the Faretta canvass that occurred on

October 23rd, and I believe you specifically indicated to

him that should this matter proceed to sentencing today
he would be proceeding in proper person and he
acknowledged that at that time.

THE COURT: Thank you.

You may continue. I want to hear from you but I

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JAT50
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also want to create a record.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Page ten of the PSI, it
says that I was arrested for the following charges, was
never convicted. I have no recollection of any of that.
And that's what I want to bring to the court's attention.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Anything else?

THE DEFENDANT: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any comments about the
underlying sentence -- or the sentence that you wish the
court to impose?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, your Honor, I'd like to say
that I admit to my guilt, I did it, I'm not trying to
minimize what I did, but I'm -- I'm 60 years old and I
have a drug problem. And I understand that I must pay
for my crime. And I'm sincere here today and I've always
been sincere.

I took a few steps where I could at the county

jail to enroll in classes. I also contacted a few people
that can possibly help me enroll. I'm basically -- I'm
willing to take my punishment, you know, straight out. I

did what I did. And I'd like to apologize to the
victims. I'd like to apologize to my family, my

children. And I appreciate the court. I submit it on

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA 151
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that.

THE COURT: You're very likeable.

THE DEFENDANT: I try my best. It's my
personality. It's naturally like this. This is not a
fake. I don't have to -- I don't have to fake.

And I've never had a program. I've never had a
program. I successfully completed one in Los Angeles
County. It was an outpatient program, I successfully

completed it, and I'd like to try again if it's possible,

you know. I can even do five years' probation.
Also, I have two jobs 1lined up. I could verify
those. I do what I can do and I would love to have an

opportunity to do it again.

THE COURT: In a moment, Ms. Northington, let me
turn to the Division because I know you're bound -- well,
I believe that you have negotiations which will govern
your comments.

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: To the Division, Mr. Clarke has
suggested that you got his Presentence Investigation
Report wrong in many respects, do you have any response
to him?

MR. GLASS: Your Honor, during -- on September 10,

2019, when he was interviewed, he was presented his
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Nevada criminal history. Unfortunately, his California
history was not presented and all his California cases
were based off his NCIC record that we had. And a lot of
his offenses were -- didn't have any case numbers back
from the 1970s to I think the 80s.

THE COURT: I think his first one was 1980.

MR. GLASS: And he had -- let's see. I believe --
he had 1977 when he started.

THE COURT: Oh. I thought I saw the rape charge
in 1980. Let me look to see if I missed --

MR. GLASS: He's had --

THE COURT: Oh. I was looking at the wrong page.
You're correct, 1977.

MR. GLASS: That's when it started, from May 1977,
and most of those cases look like those cases --

THE COURT: But you would confirm that this
information was gleaned from the NCIC report?

MR. GLASS: Yes, your Honor. Unfortunately, it's
very difficult to get the case disposition from
California. Usually they incur charges when you're
requesting documents and at this point the Division
doesn't pay for court documents.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else?

MR. GLASS: Then he did participate in treatment,
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looks like as stated on -- there was -- the court's
indulgence -- it was a substance abuse treatment in
Nevada for PCP and methamphetamine, but he did not

complete it.

THE COURT: And so the Division is recommending
36 to 96 months, which is more than what the attorneys
negotiated. Can you shed any light on why the 36-t0-967

MR. GLASS: From the recommendations, they are
doing it based off the 10 felony convictions.

THE COURT: So it's just a formula where the data
is inputted -- I don't mean to say just inputted because
not I'm implying anything wrong about it, but this was
pushed through that matrix that you use and that's what
the result was?

MR. GLASS: Correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Clerk will cause this document to
be admitted -- marked and admitted.

Let me look at the next one.

There is a handwritten letter that I'd like to be
admitted, Ms. Clerk, to include a ACCS form indicating
five substance abuse treatment classes.

Ms. Northington?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Thank you, your Honor. Very

briefly.
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As to the defendant's challenges to the PSI, I was
unaware that he was going to make such challenges. But
while I was sitting here listening to it, I did review
his NCIC from California and Nevada, and based on my very
brief overview it seems to be consistent with what is
reflected in the PSI regarding a criminal history dating
back to 1977 with at least 10 felonies since.

This case was negotiated to a joint recommendation
of 12 to 36 months with Mr. Clarke's previous counsel,
Ms. Valencia,; that negotiation was based primarily on two
balancing factors. One is the defendant's egregious
lifelong criminal history, which shows that since 1977

he's either been committing crimes or in prison or about

to commit crimes with the facts of this case. He went
into a store -- I'm sorry -- a restaurant and he stole
$35.

THE COURT: So who negotiated the case on State's
behalf?

MS. NORTHINGTON: I did.

THE COURT: Were you aware that he had 47 prior
criminal convictions at the time of you negotiated this
case?

MS. NORTHINGTON: I was aware that he had an

extensive criminal history, but I was not aware of the
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specifics. The California criminal history 1is very
difficult to read with how we run it, but I was aware
that he did have an extensive criminal history.

THE COURT: I'm asking you, because you told me
that there was this balance, what appears to be de
minimis conduct in isolation with his a longitudinal
criminal history --

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes.

THE COURT: =-- and I'm glad you're here as the
negotiating attorney, but the Division is asking that I
remove him from our community because after 47 times it's
just too many.

MS. NORTHINGTON: I understand, and I can
understand why they gave that recommendation. I respect
their recommendation but it was negotiated due to the
facts of the case. It was $35. The $35 was returned to
the victim that night.

The victims in this case are the Taste of Chicago
restaurant and the store clerk that was working. She has
been notified of today; she did not want to be here
today.

It was primarily because of the facts of the case
that we negotiated it for the sentence that we negotiated

it for.
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THE COURT: You say the $35 was returned, but it
was returned after the owner had chased him and tackled
him, and then there was some person-to-person contact?

MS. NORTHINGTON: Yes.

THE COURT: It seems to me to be a dangerous set
of ingredients.

MS. NORTHINGTON: I would agree with you, your
Honor .

THE COURT: Anything else?

MS. NORTHINGTON: No, your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor, may I speak?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE DEFENDANT: Specifically about the money being

returned, Mr. Pito received the money from me as soon as

I came out the door. He didn't have to chase me. Him
and his customer came out -- first the customer came out
and Mr. Pito came. He asked for the money and I gave it

back. This is what the video shows.

The witnesses testified in their own statement
that -- I'm not trying to have a trial, I'm just bringing
the facts to the court's attention that was not submitted
into evidence -- the customer came out and then Mr. Pito

came out, asked me for the money. I gave him the money.
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Not only did I give him that money, there was other money
that was also -- I had over $600 on me. When I left,

350 -- 377, which I was booked into the county jail with,
but the money was given back and they didn't have to
fight me and none of that, because Mr. Pito gave a
witness statement saying that he held me down and I
refused to aggress towards him. The money was already
given back.

And there was another issue that I don't like --
that I'm going to bring to the court's attention. There
was more than Mr. Pito there -- it was him, one of his
workers and a customer. They were all on the scene when
the police arrived.

And this is the last point I'd 1like to make. I
don't want to argue the case. I admit to what I've done
but it was a report of a fight that took place, not a
report of a tip jar being tooken. But when the police
arrived, no one spoke about a fight. The actual fact was
that not only was money given back to him, money out of
my pocket was also tooken. I would say two-thirds,
almost $400 tooken from me. Again, I deserved it because
of what I've done. But that's all I'd like to say.

THE COURT: Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm kind of nervous.
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THE COURT: You're doing great.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you.

THE COURT: It is the judgment of this court that
Mr. Clarke be adjudicated guilty of the offense. He will
pay a $25 administrative assessment fee, a $3 DNA
administrative assessment, an attorney's fee of $500.

He is sentenced to a minimum of 28 months 1in the
Nevada Department of Corrections, with a maximum of
96 months. That top tail is very important, because
after 43 years of substantial criminal energy, not all of
which are substantial crimes but there's been a pattern
of just criminality, somebody needs to make the decision
about whether our community continues to be imperiled.

Now, I have just given you a sentence you don't
like, I'm confident, but I meant what I said. I've very
much enjoyed having you in court, and watching and
listening to you. I think you have done well vindicating
your own interests. But it is time, Mr. Clarke, from my
perspective, to remove you from our community so that we
don't have these types of crimes occurring.

THE DEFENDANT: May I ask a question, please?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: What was that sentence again, your

Honor?

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  ** JA 159



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

17+

THE COURT: Ms. Clerk?

THE CLERK: 28 --

THE COURT: To 967

THE CLERK: Correct.

THE COURT: 28 to 96, which

Division of Parole & Probation has

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Your

like to submit a notice of appeal.
THE COURT: You do whatever
THE CLERK: Credit?

THE COURT: Yes.

Ms. Clerk, I don't have -- here it
MR. GLASS: Yes, your Honor.
served is 136 days.
THE COURT: 136 days.

Ms. Valencia,
MS. VALENCIA: Yes,
of appeal that he just referenced.
THE COURT:
judgment of conviction
the notice of appeal.
Thank you. Hand
MS. NORTHINGTON:

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr.

your Honor.

We will take it.

is entered first,

it to the clerk,

Thank you,

**  SUNSHINE LITIGATION  **

is less than the
recommended.

Honor,

you wish.

Credit for time served,

is.

Credit for time

you can hand him a document.

Would you like

I'11l make sure the

please.

your Honor.

Clarke.

thank you.

It's the notice

and then file

I'd
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Thank you, Ms. Northington.

All right, Mr. Silverberg. I've waited as long as

You're free to go, Mr. Clarke.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you.

** - SUNSHINE LITIGATION
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STATE OF NEVADA )
) SsS
COUNTY OF WASHOE )

I, ERIN T. FERRETTO, an Official Reporter
of the Second Judicial District Court of the State of
Nevada, in and for the County of Washoe, DO HEREBY
CERTIFY:

That I was present in Department No. 15 of
the above-entitled Court on MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25TH, 2019,
and took verbatim stenotype notes of the proceedings had
upon the matter captioned within, and thereafter
transcribed them into typewriting as herein appears;

That the foregoing transcript is a full,
true and correct transcription of my stenotype notes of
said proceedings.

That I am not related to or employed by any
parties or attorneys herein, nor financially interested

in the outcome of these proceedings.

DATED: This 2nd day of April, 2020.

/s/ Erin T. Ferretto

ERIN T. FERRETTO, CCR #2281
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FILED
Electronically
CR19-1352
2019-11-25 03:43:15 H
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court
CODE 1850 Transaction # 760744

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, Case No. CR19-1352
VS. Dept. No. 15
ANTHONY CLARKE,

Defendant.
/

JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

The Defendant having entered a plea of guilty and no legal cause being shown as to why
judgment should not be pronounced against him, the Court rendered judgment as follows:

1. That Anthony Clarke is guilty of the crime of BURGLARY, a violation of NRS
20:5.060, a category B felony, as charged in the Information, and that he be punished by
imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections for a minimum term 28 of months to a
maximum term of 96 months, with 136 days credit for time served.

2. It is further ordered that the Defendant shall pay the statutory $25.00 administrative
assessment fee, $3.00 as an administrative assessment for obtaining a biological specimen and
conducting a genetic marker analysis, and reimburse the County of Washoe the sum $500.00 for
legal representation.

{14
i
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3. Anthony Clarke is hereby advised:

Any fine, fee or administrative assessment imposed today (as reflected
in this Judgment of Conviction) constitutes a lien, as defined in
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS 176.275). Should you net pay these
fines, fees, or assessments, collection efforts may be undertaken
against you.

7=
Dated this Z s day of November, 2019.
ISTRICT JUDGE
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| hereby certify that this document was filed electronically
with the Nevada Supreme Court on the 13th day of November 2020.
Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be made in accordance
with the Master Service List as follows:

Jennifer P. Noble, Chief Appellate Deputy
Washoe County District Attorney’s Office

| further certify that | served a copy of this document by
mailing a true and correct copy thereof, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

Anthony Clarke (#1192204)

Northern Nevada Correctional Center

P.O. Box 7000
Carson City, Nevada 89702

Tracie K. Lindeman, Esq.



